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The International Commission of Holocaust Era Insurance
Claims (ICHEIC) failed to meet its promises to Holocaust
victims and their heirs to compensate in speedy fashion
policies that remained unpaid for some sixty years. When
the claims process will have been completed only about 3
percent of the $15 billion value of unpaid life insurance
Holocaust-era claims will have been paid, few unpaid
nonlife policies will have been considered, and the process
will have taken at least eight years instead of the two or so
originally anticipated. As of November 2004, ICHEIC plans
to complete its operations by mid-2006.

The chief reasons for this failure are inept governance and
poor management. Governance became akin to secret
diplomacy, in which ICHEIC's chairman and his immediate
subordinates relied heavily on dealing only with those who
favored their views while making promises to others that
were never fulfilled or too long delayed. ICHEIC
management mainly ignored the numerous studies
pinpointing the serious problems with the claims process.

To make matters worse, insurance companies did not
honor their initial pledges, and political pressure on
ICHEIC to initiate reforms faded. Most Jewish and U.S.
regulators participating in ICHEIC came to believe that
there was no alternative to ICHEIC, having been worn
down by the inflexible stance of ICHEIC's leadership.
Finally, the U.S. courts recently dismissed suits against
insurance companies and ICHEIC.

                  

ICHEIC[1] was founded in August 1998 during a resurgence of
interest in restoring assets lost during the Holocaust to survivors
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or their heirs.  ICHEIC brought together insurance companies,
U.S. state regulators, and Jewish organizations-including the
State of Israel-in a nongovernmental organization governed by a
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) signed by all parties.
ICHEIC's aim was to quickly reimburse unpaid insurance policies,
both life and nonlife, from the Holocaust era in a manner devoid
of the problems of ongoing restitution efforts such as the
cumbersome nature of government agreements, high costs, and
prolonged class action suits. Later agreements were signed with
countries to cover all their policies, including Austria, Belgium,
Germany, and the Netherlands.[2]

ICHEIC's governing board consists of twelve commissioners:
three Jewish representatives from, respectively, American
Gathering of Jewish Holocaust Survivors, Centre of Organizations
of Holocaust Survivors in Israel, and the State of Israel; three
U.S. state insurance regulators, namely, California, Florida, and
New York; four insurance companies, namely, Allianz, AXA,
Generali, and Zurich; and two European regulators. The four
insurance companies plus Winterthur are ICHEIC members.
Lawrence S. Eagleburger, the former U.S. secretary of state, was
named ICHEIC chairman.[3]

  
Estimating Unpaid Holocaust-Era Life
Insurance
One of the first ICHEIC efforts was to estimate the total number
and value of unpaid Holocaust-era life insurance policies held by
Jews. With a few slight differences, the ICHEIC members looking
at the issue were able to determine that the Jews of Nazi-
occupied Europe-excluding the 1938 USSR boundaries-owned
more than 800,000 life insurance policies worth nearly $600
million at face value. There is sound historical data indicating that
the total number of policies held by Jews and non-Jews for all
countries in Nazi- occupied Europe was fifty-six million and their
face value exceeded $15 billion.[4] The Jewish portion can be
reasonably determined by first applying the Jewish percentage of
the population.[5] In addition, it is possible to roughly estimate the
Jewish propensity to buy more insurance at higher average
values than non-Jews, as a result of demographic differences.  A
much higher percentage of Jews than non-Jews lived in urban
areas and were self-employed businessmen or worked in
relatively well-paid professions.[6]    

A further test indicates that the nearly $600 million face value of
life insurance is a conservative estimate. Immediately before the
Holocaust era, this face value-due upon death or maturity-
translated into asset value or cash surrender value of about $150
million. This amounts to some 1-1.5 percent of total Jewish
assets in Nazi-occupied Europe, while the 1938 Nazi survey of
Jewish assets in Austria indicated the cash surrender value of life
insurance at roughly 2 percent.[7]

Determining the current value of Holocaust-era policies was
much more contentious. The Jewish side presented what it
considered a conservative estimate of nearly $19 billion (2003
prices). This was derived by first converting the face local
currency value of all policies to dollars at the exchange rate for
31 December 1938 (an exception is Germany in which the
purchasing power parity rate-29.7 U.S. cents=1 RM-is used
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because the reichsmark was overvalued).[8] Then, the current
dollar value of the policies is determined by assuming the pre-
Holocaust amount was invested in a very conservative fashion-
U.S. government thirty-year bonds.[9] The resulting $19 billion is
considered a reasonable benchmark of current value. In reality,
this amount is likely larger because the portfolios of the insurance
companies normally also contain investments that pay higher
returns than U.S. government bonds, such as real estate and
stocks.[10]

From this amount must be subtracted Holocaust-era insurance
claims already paid. It is generously assumed that 10 percent of
the policies in Eastern Europe were paid directly to policyholders,
beneficiaries, or heirs between 1945 and 1997. The
corresponding percentages for West European countries are 70
percent, except 20 percent for Austria and none for the numerous
Netherlands burial policies. (In 1938 in the Netherlands with a
population of 8.5 million, there were 10.2 million small-valued
burial policies-"volksverzekeringen." Most likely some people had
more than one policy since each one had a very small value.) In
all, this means almost 40 percent of the policies were paid to the
correct person through 1997. Without the Netherlands burial
policies, the paid numbers come close to half.[11]

In value terms, the amount repaid is nearly $4 billion in 2003
prices with interest. This number, however, is only about 20
percent of the $19 billion outstanding. The large difference
between the value and quantity of policies paid reflects the
substantial German underpayments as a consequence of the
1948 monetary reform. At that time, the Allied powers insisted on
a monetary change in which 10 reichsmark (RM) were made
equivalent to one deutschmark, in order to save the postwar
German economy from the vast deluge of RM the Nazi regime
had dumped on the market to pay for the war effort. Indeed,
without this Allied action, the German economic miracle that
followed would not have taken place or would have been much
delayed. The problem is that the Jews, who were not responsible
for the Nazi war effort, along with many non-Jewish Germans,
had to suffer in terms of reduced values of assets for the wartime
economic policies of the Nazi regime. The non-Jewish Germans,
however, benefited from the economic miracle.

Consequently, by 1997, a benchmark number of Holocaust
policies not restored amounted to some 400,000-plus 150,000
Netherlands burial policies-life insurance policies, with a 2003
value of approximately $15 billion.

ICHEIC insurance company members did not accept the
methodology proposed by the Jewish participants for calculating
the current value of unpaid policies for Germany and Eastern
Europe. After prolonged negotiations, ICHEIC members came to
an agreement that reduced the value of unpaid Jewish life
insurance policies to about $3 billion for 2003. This much lower
amount results from two valuation compromises:

● East European nationalization. The insurance companies
insisted they had no legal obligation to pay for policies
nationalized by the communist governments of Eastern
Europe, since these governments took over the policies. It
was shown, however, that some companies received
partial payment for their nationalized assets. In addition,
many insurance contracts written in Eastern Europe
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indicated that payments to policyholders were backed by
company funds outside the country in which the policy was
written. A compromise was worked out in which companies
promised to pay claims on a "humanitarian" basis at an
amount that is equivalent to about one-third of the
reasonable benchmark current value.

● The German monetary reform. The German government
insisted that ICHEIC calculate the current value of policies
using the same formula by which claimants were paid in
the postwar period-that is, including the effects of the 1948
Monetary Reform. Interest would be paid only from 1969 to
the current period. The outcome was minimal payments
averaging about $1,000 per policy. After years of
negotiations on this issue, in October 2002 the German
Foundation for Remembrance, Responsibility, and Future
(German Foundation) agreed to pay a minimum of $3,000
per policy for those who perished during the Holocaust and
$4,000 for those who survived. But even with these
improvements, German payments are still only about 15
percent of the reasonable benchmark system of
determining current value. As a result, the average
payment for German policies is less than half that of the
already discounted East European policies.

By mid-September 2004, ICHEIC received nearly 80,000 relevant
claims for life insurance containing about 135,000 policies (the
average claim contains 1.7 policies). About 4,700 claimants
received offers (some 8,000 policies) valued at $74 million.
Perhaps as many as 6,000 claims (10,000 policies) may
eventually be paid that will amount to about $110 million. Another
$16 million was paid to some 16,000 claimants ($1,000 each)
based on nondocumented hearsay information that a policy had
existed. In all, the amount eventually paid could reach $150
million or about 1 percent of the benchmark amount owed.[12]

The companies and government restitution schemes are also
slated to pay roughly $300 million for social welfare purposes to
account for the many unpaid policies in which no claim was
filed.[13] It has been known from the beginning that the vast
majority of the claims would never be filed because sixty years
have gone by and because of the almost total annihilation of
many European Jewish communities. But even by including these
humanitarian payments along with those paid directly to
claimants-about  $450 million-ICHEIC efforts will recoup only
about 3 percent of the total value of insurance policies still owed
Holocaust victims. Even by ICHEIC's discounted valuation
standards, which produce about $3 billion (2003 value) in unpaid
life policies, less than 15 percent will be paid.[14]   

In all, while issues can always be raised about the methodology
used to derive the above estimates, it is clear that any sound
interpretation would still suggest that only a small fraction of the
outstanding life insurance amount will be paid. Moreover,
although ICHEIC's charter calls for resolving all Holocaust-era
insurance policies, nothing serious has been done to investigate,
publicize, handle, and set rules for the very large numbers of
nonlife policies. This includes the substantial losses stemming
from Kristallnacht during November 1938.
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Governance and Management
The Successful First Period

During ICHEIC's first eighteen months, extensive cooperation
among the parties involved led to the development of the needed
framework for the effort. The insurance companies pledged to
meet the cost of ICHEIC's operation, expeditiously pay claims,
and contribute to a humanitarian fund to account for the many
Holocaust-era policies that all sides recognized would remain
unpaid. The cooperative negotiations and compromises in the
various committees created a system of rules allowing for relaxed
standards of proof, a means to value unpaid policies at current
prices, and a way to handle the companies' obligations for
policies caught up in communist nationalization in Eastern
Europe. This shared system was highlighted when the ICHEIC
commissioners adopted "consensus-based decision-making" at
the January 1999 ICHEIC meeting in Washington.[15] 

All parties realized that after more than sixty years and the
horrors of the Holocaust, few surviving policyholders or their heirs
still had documents indicating the existence of a policy. With the
acceptance of claims, this fact became abundantly clear. Only
about a third of the claimants were able to name the company
with which the policyholder was insured and only 5 percent could
provide evidence-policy, premium notice, and so on-that a policy
had existed. Thus, from the beginning it was recognized that
considerable emphasis had to be placed on obtaining policy
information from company records and government archives, and
on publishing the names of the policyholders.

Another lesson quickly learned is that matching the names, dates
of birth, and other information provided by claimants with similar
data in company records and government archives is not a
simple exercise. Differences often occur in the spelling of both
the policyholders' surname and given name, reflecting the
numerous languages being compared. To make matters worse,
the names in the ICHEIC claimant database were changed to
English while they were provided in Hebrew, Cyrillic, and other
languages. The matching of names also became difficult because
of the many common surnames. In the case of dates of birth,
claimants often lacked the exact date for policyholders who were
born mainly in the 19th century. Moreover, company records
sometimes did not provide a date of birth. Even comparing
residences had to be undertaken carefully. For example, the
Austrian spelling of Vienna is Wien.

Little or No Progress during the Second Period

During the second period, from the February 2000 launch of the
process to accept claims until October 2002, cooperation among
participants faded, the insurance companies' financial pledges
evaporated,[16] and the idea of determining a global settlement to
cover the value of all unpaid insurance gave way to much smaller
payments via agreements with individual companies. Meanwhile,
the claims process got bogged down in uncertainty and errors.
Several highly critical reviews of this process pinpointed the same
problems and suggested recommendations. They included my
(and Jolanta Goldstein's) in-depth/onsite appraisal of the
management of the claims process in December 2000 and a
review of decisions on individual claims in October 2001.[17] An
investigative study was undertaken by a group headed by Lord
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Archer of Sandwell in early 2002. In the public realm, the
insurance commissioner of Washington State, Deborah Senn,
issued a critical "Status Report on Holocaust Era Insurance
Claims" (December 2000). Hearings before the U.S. House of
Representatives Government Reform Committee in November
2001 enumerated the many ICHEIC problems.[18] But ICHEIC
management paid little attention to these numerous reports and
their recommendations or to the knowledge gained from
experience.

As claims received climbed rapidly in 2000, a number of severe
shortcomings became apparent in the system to process them.
Such initial deficiencies are not abnormal, especially in cases like
this one where the effort is groundbreaking. But ICHEIC
management of claims processing, run by an office in London,
failed to make the necessary and obvious corrections that were
clearly pointed out in various reviews. To make matters worse,
the ICHEIC London office provided little oversight of the
contractor that had been hired to handle the processing of claims.
This was a grave shortcoming since this contract involved the
heart of ICHEIC's claim processing and such a groundbreaking
operation needed constant tinkering.  There should have been an
ICHEIC person onsite to see that the operation was effective and
efficient, to handle the daily issues that arise, and to suggest
needed changes in operation or in the contract.  

Moreover, no system was put in place during this period to
ensure that offers or denials made by the insurance companies
on documented claims followed ICHEIC rules, despite the fact
that all critics mentioned above made that suggestion and
Chairman Eagleburger promised to do so at the November 2001
congressional hearings. Documented claims are those involving
information that a policy existed based on documents provided by
the claimant or found in government archives or company files. In
these cases, under ICHEIC rules the company must pay the
claim unless it can show that the policy was previously paid. The
numerous problems with documented claims pointed out by
several reviews stemmed from a combination of company
mistakes, ICHEIC processing errors, and the uncertainty of
unresolved ICHEIC rules.

At a strategic level, there was also a management failure. No
effort was made to present an overall view of how the various
elements of the ICHEIC should proceed and be integrated in
terms of priorities, timing, and costs.  For example, it was
necessary to move quickly to have companies publish names of
Holocaust-era policyholders so that potential claims could be
filed. But this effort never received the priority that was needed
and by  the 31 December 2003 deadline for filing claims the
companies had published few policyholder names, except in the
case of Germany. Also, while some progress was made in
developing archival information, the effort fell considerably short of
what was needed. For example, nearly all the archival names
came from three countries-Austria, Czechoslovakia, and
Germany-that accounted for less than 20 percent of the Jewish
population of Nazi-occupied Europe, excluding the USSR.

A major stumbling block was the management of the London
office. Its head and deputy chairman of ICHEIC, Geoffrey
Fitchew, insisted that ICHEIC's role was simply to be a "post
office" that sends claims to the companies for decision. Although
ICHEIC's head office in Washington stated numerous times that
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this was not the case, the London office failed to significantly
alter its course of action. For example, even though Chairman
Eagleburger promised to establish a system to verify documented
claims at the November 2001 congressional hearings, the London
office failed to do so and was not pressed by the chairman.
When combined with other problems, such as the failure to
address unforeseen issues, the result was an expanding number
of unresolved system errors that persist to date.

Inept governance made the ICHEIC's situation worse. No
effective means existed to set priorities or deal with issues that
naturally arise with any operating system, especially one that is
groundbreaking. This not only impaired the management of
ICHEIC but also created a corrosive atmosphere among
members and greatly undermined public confidence in the
organization. Except for occasional decisions on some issues by
the chairman, the effort essentially drifted in disarray. The
effective committee structure of the earlier period was basically
disbanded. It was replaced with the Executive Oversight
Committee (EOC), which rarely met and was too large. 

The ICHEIC commissioners never solidified as a group and never
acted as a board of directors voting on key issues. Rather than a
consensus-building process, the major decisions by the chairman
were based on input from the head of the London operations and
on his discussions with those ICHEIC members the chairman felt
necessary. Such actions may have been effective in terms of
secret diplomacy but caused dissension within ICHEIC and
undermined public confidence. 

Another major culprit was the long-drawn-out negotiations to
reach an accord with the German Foundation to handle all
insurance claims for Jews living in Germany during the Holocaust
era. Many ICHEIC-stipulated rules were not accepted by the
ICHEIC member companies, which waited to see the outcome of
the German Agreement. Further adding to the woes was the
diminished political pressure, which initially had raised the public
awareness of restitution and led to the early efforts to resolve the
issue. In all, through the second period, the ICHEIC chairman did
little to correct the problems, the insurance companies'
performance in handling claims was lackadaisical at best, most
state regulators lost interest, and the Jewish participants
essentially put up with the difficulties, seeing no alternative.

ICHEIC's public standing plummeted as complaints grew from
claimants. There were numerous highly disparaging newspaper
articles, including a 25 January 2002 piece in the Financial Times
(p. 12) declaring the ICHEIC claims process as "rotten." After two
investigative reports by its reporter Greg Garland, a Baltimore
Sun editorial stated: "The scandalous record has abused once
again the thousands of Holocaust survivors and heirs, many of
whom have unsuccessfully sought for six decades the dignity that
might come with proper compensation. ICHEIC is in need of
immediate and deep reform."[19] In his book Holocaust Justice,
Michael Bazyler provides details on the many problems faced by
claimants and recounts much of the public dissent in a section
called "The Claims Process Is a Failure."[20]

Raised Expectations Frustrated by Little Progress in the
Third Period

With the signing of an agreement in October 2002 with the
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German Foundation,[21] it was hoped that a new period would
begin and the process would be reinvigorated. Despite all the
delays in reaching the agreement and numerous difficult
compromises, there were clear benefits. All German claims would
be considered rather than just those from the participating
ICHEIC company members, a promise was made to publish a list
of Jewish policyholders in Germany, and ICHEIC received the
necessary funds to sustain its operations.[22] This additional
money made up for the amount the participating companies had
originally pledged and then reneged on.

These hopeful expectations were strengthened when at about the
same time Mara Rudman, a staff member of a U.S. consulting
company, was hired in July 2002 to act as ICHEIC chief
operating officer (COO) to tackle its many problems. But through
October 2003, progress was minimal in terms of most key claims-
processing issues. The one important step forward was putting in
place, after more than three years of promises, a scheme to
verify that claims processed by the insurance companies follow
ICHEIC rules and that there are no system errors. The
effectiveness of the verification system, however, still remains
unclear as errors and questions persist. A major problem is that
no system was put in place to clarify previous rules and produce
new rules to deal with unforeseen issues.

During the same period, ICHEIC published on its website some
350,000 possible Jewish life insurance policyholders in Germany
from the Holocaust era. This effective effort was not handled by
the COO but by committees made up of representatives of the
ICHEIC participants, its staff, and the German Foundation. Their
cooperation was reminiscent of the first ICHEIC period, when the
committee system worked effectively.

But the lack of cooperative overall governance persisted. The
ICHEIC commissioners (Board of Directors) who represent all
parties never met to provide basic rules, nor did specialized
committees to clarify rules. Those decisions that were made were
done in a haphazard fashion by Chairman Eagleburger or the
COO with minimal consultation with ICHEIC members. In most
cases, any discussion was held only with those who agreed with
them. Indeed, a veil of secrecy as to what steps were or were not
being taken descended over the ICHEIC effort.

Below are a few examples of dubious decisions resulting from
inept governance:

● The interest rate for 2003 and 2004. At the beginning of
each year the interest rate paid on offers is set for that
year. For dollar payments, it is based on the thirty-year
U.S. Government bond yield on the first business day of
the year, usually January 2. In the case of Euro payments,
it is the average of long-term government bond yields for
individual countries for the same date. ICHEIC London
announced that both the U.S. and European rate for 2003
was 4.75 percent. The Jewish participants immediately
notified ICHEIC that while the Euro rate was correct, the
dollar rate should be 5 percent. The response was that
while it agreed the U.S. rate was not correct, the German
Foundation had already been notified and had accepted
the 2003 rates. Thus, the rate could not be corrected and
would stand. It did. In 2004, the chairman raised the rate
to 5 percent. But the U.S. bond yield was 5.28 percent,
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meaning that claimants whose offers are calculated in
dollars-that is, most claims-would again be shortchanged.
Again ICHEC was notified immediately by the Jewish side
of the error and once more no change was made.  

● Definition of a subsidiary. For several years the Jewish
participants raised without response the issue as to what
constituted a subsidiary. The chief of London operations
said he had told the Claims Committee in the early ICHEIC
years that a subsidiary was when the parent company
owned 51 percent or more of its subsidiary. Although he
had no documented proof on which to base his decision
and no committee member recalled his statement, he
insisted that percentage be used. Many memos were sent
to ICHEIC on the issue, indicating the common
international norm was 25 percent and indeed that this
share was used in the German, Austrian, and Swiss
agreements. Finally, Chairman Eagleburger made a
decision on 16 June 2003 that made no sense. He decided
that several companies in which the parent ownership was
between 25 and 50 percent would be considered as
subsidiaries. But the subsidiaries on the chairman's list
sold mainly nonlife policies and ICHEIC never developed
rules to pay nonlife claims. At the same time, he excluded
subsidiaries in the 25-50 percent range that sold life
insurance. This bizarre decision meant that some two
hundred claims probably will not be considered for
payment under the normal valuation rules.

● ICHEIC valuation and other rules. Based mainly on
actual claimant cases, the Jewish side constantly provided
a list of uncertainties in ICHEIC rules that naturally arise in
any system, especially one that is so groundbreaking.  As
with other problems, the request to deal with or clarify
these issues was delayed for years. In 2003 the new
management team at ICHEIC simply denied that there
were any outstanding issues.

To make matters worse, the appeals process for company offers
and denials in which the claimant names a company has been a
costly endeavor because the appeals panels have had to
adjudicate the many rules ICHEIC has failed to resolve or clarify.
Moreover, there are three separate appeals panels[23] that
decide issues on different standards and there is no retroactivity
to ensure that all claims involving the same issue are handled in
the same manner.

How the many ICHEIC shortcomings were creating problems for
individual claimants in his state was described in a report by the
Washington State insurance commissioner, Mike Kreidler. He
mentioned the lack of enforcement of ICHEIC rules, the need to
clarify the valuation system, and recent errors with the ICHEIC
claims verification system. Moreover, the report found that "[a]
significant number of Washington claims submitted to ICHEIC
appear to be missing or lost." The commissioner recommended
that the regulators audit ICHEIC's claim process.[24]            

As The Economist magazine said in a 2 August  2003 editorial,
"If ICHEIC fails to improve its performance and quickly, by
demonstrating greater independence, acting more openly and
paying claims faster, then those who have not yet filed a claim
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may choose to go directly to the law. That would hardly help
insurers or claimants to resolve this issue speedily." It must be
added the same is true of those who have already filed claims.

The Fourth Stage: Late Attempts to Respond to
Longstanding Problems

To resolve the governance crises, the Jewish group met
immediately before the October 2003 ICHEIC meeting and
decided on corrective actions that should be undertaken
immediately. This included the reestablishment of the committee
systems, the appointment of an ombudsman to handle the
numerous complaints from claimants, and the development of a
program to accelerate the handling of claims by the insurance
companies. At the ICHEIC meeting, it was decided to discuss
and move ahead with these steps. 

In all cases, through mid-April 2004, ICHEIC did almost nothing.
The pace at which companies handled claims did not change
significantly and the ombudsman effort never materialized. After a
six-month delay, the chairman finally initiated an Operating
Committee to discuss longstanding issues, but appointed mainly
only those who would not challenge his views. Through mid-
September 2004, the Operations Committee rarely met and only
a few of the many outstanding issues were addressed. Thus, little
was done to make up for the protracted time and money poorly
spent as well as the disregard of claimant interests that resulted
from years of faulty management and governance. At this point
the two parties-the Jewish group and the state regulators-that
could make a difference seem to have been worn down by years
of inaction, discord, and a turnover of participants that undercut
institutional memory.

ICHEIC management meanwhile increasingly stifled criticism by
relying strictly on those who do not raise concerns and
ostracizing those with legitimate questions. Most distressing was
the sudden removal from office of Dale Franklin, the chief of staff
of the Washington office, who was the only one within ICHEIC
management who diligently worked to overcome the longstanding
problems.

The ICHEIC meeting in April 2004 reiterated its hopes to close
down ICHEIC by year's end. This goal was not achieved. At the
end of April 2004, and after four years of processing claims, only
about 38 percent of claims have been completed by the
companies.[25] Additionally, the important tasks of claims
verification and appeals must take place after the company
decisions, extending the time frame even further. Finally, the
matching process was lagging and with minor exceptions the
companies belonging to ICHEIC-outside of Germany-have not
made available their list of names of Holocaust-era policyholders
even for use in the internal matching process. No effort has been
undertaken to handle nonlife-insurance policies as pledged in
ICHEIC's initial charter. It seems that the policy of the ICHEIC
chairman and the COO is to close the effort as soon as possible
and declare victory.

California's insurance commissioner, John Garamendi, who is
also an ICHEIC commissioner, in an 8 June 2004 letter to
ICHEIC Chairman Eagleburger tried to persuade him to take
appropriate action to resolve ICHEIC's problems. He stated,
"Although ICHEIC faces serious problems, it continues to ignore
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those of its commissioners who dare to suggest improvements,
make constructive criticism, ask incisive questions or call for
better management.... ICHEIC management is sloppy. The
current claims verification system is woefully inadequate. The
Claims database still needs work. ICHEIC's refusal to update the
valuation guidelines is amateurish."

Eagleburger's 11 June response was a rambling public relations
defense that showed the chairman and his staff did not even
know the facts. For example, in his response to Commissioner
Garamendi's suggestion that ICHEIC's Valuation Committee-
which consists of all ICHEIC parties-should meet to deal with
inconsistencies in interpreting the rules and unforeseen issues,
Chairman Eagleburger stated that these rules had been finalized
on 16 October  2002, when the agreement with the German
Foundation was signed.  He went on to say, "These are, in effect
contractual obligations. As such they cannot unilaterally be set
aside. That may be the way you do business in California but it
would be my definition of truly amateurish."  Chairman
Eagleburger obviously did not read or does not understand the
agreement he signed with the German Foundation. That
agreement stated: "The parties shall endeavor in good faith to
resolve any dispute in relation to the interpretation or application
of this Agreement amicably by negotiations between the
parties."[26] These words were purposely inserted into the
agreement in order to finalize it, being cognizant that all issues
had not been resolved and others could arise in interpreting the
agreement.

At the same time in response to Commissioner Garamendi's
criticism, ICHEIC's COO made the most hypocritical remark. She
said "...that all sides greatly underestimated the complexity and
timeframe of settling claims and that the commission suffered
from some poor communications."[27] This after years of criticism
and having been told about the issues ever since she joined
ICHEIC two years earlier.

At the ICHEIC meeting on 16 November 2004, a key issue was
the completion of the claims process. It was now hoped that this
task would be completed by the end of 2005 with appeals and
audits finished by mid-2006.[28] This compares with the initial
planned ICHEIC closure date of late 2002 and later postponed to
the end of 2004.  Even the completion date set at the November
2004 meeting will be difficult to accomplish considering that only
42 percent of the claims had been processed by the companies
as of 20 October 2004.[29]

Achieving the completion goal has been made even more
questionable by the termination "with cause" of the Israeli-based
Generali Trust Fund (GTF) that had been handling the processing
of Generali claims, which account for most ICHEIC claims.[30] At
the 16 November 2004 meeting, it still remained unclear whether
the processing of these claims would be taken over by Generali
headquarters in Italy or by a new organization in Israel.

Although Chairman Eagleburger in his termination letter tried to
place the blame on GTF, this was clearly another ICHEIC
management malfunction. Since signing a contract with GTF in
April 2001, ICHEIC has failed to provide adequate oversight
despite the fact that it had been told from the start that GTF's
manpower was inadequate.  Moreover, U.S. state regulators
constantly pointed out the many GTF processing errors and the
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numerous problems created by GTF's insistence that it follow
Israeli law rather than ICHEIC rules in regard to documents
required of claimants, such as those that link heirs to
policyholders.    

 

Conclusions
ICHEIC initially was able to develop the rudiments of a credible
system to meet the unpaid life insurance claims from the
Holocaust era. But the implementation of this effort was seriously
flawed by inept management and governance. Instead of the
envisaged two-year endeavor aimed at avoiding prolonged
lawsuits and government bureaucracy, the process will take at
least nine years and be constantly plagued by justified
complaints. As a result, ICHEIC's reputation has sagged badly
and the idea of resolving issues through an agreement among
the parties to a dispute has suffered a major setback. Upon
completing its tasks, ICHEIC will have paid claimants and
provided humanitarian funds an amount equivalent to only about
3 percent of the 1998-unpaid amount of life insurance policies
outstanding from the Holocaust era. This percentage does not
even come close to achieving "rough justice." ICHEIC also has
done almost nothing to handle nonlife-insurance claims.

At the heart of the governance-management problem is a
common human flaw. Those leaders with a political bent often are
successful in fostering good ideas by drawing people together
and effectively balancing conflicting interests. But they lack the
skills, patience, and interest to deal with day-to-day governance
and management. This is ICHEIC's story.

At the same time, the lack of sustained political pressure
undercut the motivation for ICHEIC to correct its problems. Press
coverage has been minimal in recent years as public interest in
the issue of Holocaust restitution declined significantly from its
peak in the late 1990s. Most Jewish and state regulators
participating in ICHEIC were worn down by the many years of
ICHEIC's inflexible stance and did not push for remedial actions.
In recent times, the court system provided no alternative
counterforce.[31] As a result ICHEIC's chairman and managers
could effectively ignore any criticism of the process, while most
participants succumbed to the idea that there was no alternative
to ICHEIC and its serious shortcomings.

A major lesson learned is that such private endeavors such as
ICHEIC must face and fix problems early on. The longer they
fester, the more difficult and costly they are to resolve. 

   

*     *     *

Notes 

[1] Note:  Much of the discussion of ICHEIC is based on material
in possession of the author or on his conversations with ICHEIC
participants.

[2] Dutch Insurance Association (May 2000), German Foundation,
"Remembrance, Responsibility and the Future" (October 2002),
La Commission pour le Dédommagement des Membres de la
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Communauté Juive de Belgique (July 2003), and The General
Settlement Fund of the Republic of Austria (December 2003). The
Austrian agreement is on hold pending settlement of court cases.

[3] This list from the September 1999 ICHEIC meeting is
somewhat different from the list of commissioners stated in the
ICHEIC Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). In addition, the
MOU lists observers from the World Jewish Restitution
Organization, Claims Conference, EC Commission, and U.S.
State Department.

[4] Basic life insurance data (sums insured and number of
policies) by country from: Assekuranz-Jahrbuch, Band 56 to 62
(1937-1942), Verlag Fur Recht Und Gesellschaft AG, Basel,
Leipzig, Vienna. Supplemented with: Life Insurance in Belgium,
Leigh W. Hunt, U.S. commercial attaché, Brussels, April 13, 1945
(see U.S. National Archives RG 84, box 68).

[5] Country population data from: International Historical Statistics:
Europe 1750-1988. Jewish population from:  Israel Guttman,
Encyclopedia of the Holocaust (New York: Macmillan, 1995),
Appendix, p. 1799. For Germany, the Nazi Nuremberg law is
used (persons with at least one grandparent of Jewish descent),
provided in presentation by Allianz to ICHEIC (2000) and
confirmed by telephone by Israel Guttman.

[6] Jewish propensity to buy insurance in value terms: Western
Europe, three times more; Eastern Europe, four times more. Data
from numerous reports presented to ICHEIC by Jewish
representatives and discussed in  Report to Chairman
Eagleburger on the Estimation of Unpaid Holocaust Era
Insurance Claims in Germany, Western and Eastern Europe,
December 12, 1999 (internal report). ICHEIC ultimately accepted
a Jewish propensity of three, when calculating the valuation of
valid claims that had no record of face value (see Valuation
Guidelines, paragraph 7.1, on ICHEIC website).

[7] Life insurance share of total Jewish assets: Sidney Zabludoff,
And It All But Disappeared:  The Nazi Seizure of Jewish Assets,
Institute of World Jewish Congress, Policy Forum 13, 1998.

[8] Foreign exchange rates on 31 December 1938 published by
the Board of Governors, Federal Reserve System: Randall
Hinshaw, Purchasing Parity Rates in World Income (1929-1937),
Division of Research and Statistics, Board of Governors, Federal
Reserve System, June 1945.  The dollar and the Swiss franc are
the only two currencies that provide a stable series from the
Holocaust era to the present.  Consistent time series for other
European currencies were disrupted by World War II, the high
postwar inflation, and the communist takeovers in Eastern
Europe.

[9] U.S. Government thirty-year bond yield: Annual Reports of the
Board of Governors, Federal Reserve System.

[10] Full methodology on the current value calculation is
presented in Appendix A, table, "Jewish Life Insurance Holocaust
Era."

[11] The estimated country percentages (by value) of pre-
Holocaust-era life insurance not paid to policyholders or
beneficiaries from 1945 to 1997 are considered at the high end of
the plausible range in that almost no policies were repaid in



Jewish Political Studies Review - The International Commission of Holocaust-Era Insurance Claims: Ex

http://www.jcpa.org/...ional_Commission_of_Holocaust-Era_Insurance_Claims:_Excellent_Concept_but_Inept_Implementation[2/21/2012 8:08:39 PM]

Eastern Europe and few in Austria.  In Western Europe, although
a majority of policies likely were repaid, many were done so at
the cash surrender value of the immediate pre-Holocaust period.
On average this amounts to approximately 25 percent of the face
value. The German number provided ICHEIC by the German
insurance association (BAV) shows 32.48 percent of policies
were "not subjected to examination by the BEG
[Bundesentschädigungsgestez] or other restitution authority."  But
this includes numerous policies that were paid policyholders who
had to turn over the funds to the Nazi regime.

[12] Offers to claimants via ICHEIC are shown on the ICHEIC
website (ICHEIC.org) and normally updated every two weeks.
The percentages presented in this paragraph are rounded upward
to account for the fact that the values of offers made before 2003
are not in 2003 prices but at the value for the years 2000-2002
when the offers were made.  This factor is partly compensated
for claims paid in 2004.  Humanitarian payments are essentially
equal to the amounts provided by the companies and country
organizations minus claims payments and ICHEIC's operating
costs. Total amounts are about $500 million, which includes 279
million euros ($316 million at 2003 exchange rates) from the
German Foundation, $100 million from Generali, $25 million
combined from AXA, Winterthur, and Zurich, and the remainder
(roughly estimated at $59 million) from initial company
contributions, interest, and contributions by the Austrian, Swiss,
and Dutch country organizations.  From that is subtracted $125
million for claims payments and $100 million for ICHEIC
administration, leaving about $275 million for humanitarian
purposes. ICHEIC in 2003 committed $132 million over the next
ten years (later reduced to nine) for social welfare programs for
Holocaust survivors. See ICHEIC Quarterly Report for May 2004
(on ICHEIC website).

[13] See Appendix B. 

[14] ICHEIC Committees: Public Access Working Group, Audit
Working Group, Claims Working Group, Valuation Sub-Group,
Outreach Support Group, and the Historical Working Group. The
various agreements were put together in a Chairman's
Memorandum of 6 August 1999.

[15] Budget reports at the end of 2001 indicated that ICHEIC
lacked the funds to complete their operations as then planned by
the end of 2004.  The companies at that time were not pledging
the necessary funds to fill the gap.  

[16] A major finding of the December 2000 study was the need
for distinguishing documented and other claims and a verification
system for the documented claims. The October report was a
sample of seventy-eight documented claims and showed that, "Of
the 32 offers examined only 17 were in accordance with ICHEIC
principles. Of the 46 denials that were examined only 5 were in
accordance with ICHEIC principles."

[17] Baltimore Sun editorial, 14 July 2002.

[18] See:
http://www.democrats.reform.house.gov/investigation.asp?
issue=Holocaust-
Era+insurance+restituion Era+insurance+restituion.

[19] Michael J. Bazyler, Holocaust Justice: The Battle for
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Press, 2003), p. 140.

[20] Agreement Concerning Holocaust Era Claims between
ICHEIC and the German Foundation for Remembrance,
Responsibility, and Future,  October 2002.

[21] Ibid. Section 6 provided $60 million (or more if necessary) for
ICHEIC administration between 2002 and completion.

[22] Appeals Tribunal (AXA, Winterthur, and Zurich and those of
Allianz before 16 October 2002); Appeals Panel (German Fund);
Generali Trust Fund Appeals (Generali).  

[23] "The View from Washington State: Work of ICHEIC, the
‘Value' of Memory ‘Discounted,' A Status Report," July 2002-
October 2004, Mike Kreidler, State insurance commissioner,
October 2004. 

[24] Footnote 19, section 11(3).

[25] See note 12.

[26] Tom Tugend, "In Broadside, Official Says ICHEIC Is Bungling
Shoah Insurance Claims," JTA article, 15 June 2004.

[27] The U.S. Supreme Court (21 June 2003) ruled in a 5-4
decision in American Insurance Association v. Garamendi that
California's law calling for the publication of Holocaust-era
policyholder names "interfered with the President's conduct of the
nation's foreign policy and was therefore preempted." Opinion of
the Court, pp. 28-29.  A class action suit against ICHEIC in the
California state courts (Case #BC303004) was dismissed for lack
of jurisdiction (August 2004).  U.S. District Judge Michael
Mukassey dismissed some twenty class action and individual
suits against Generali on the basis of the U.S. Supreme Court's
June decision (12 October 2004).

[28] See http://www.icheic.org/, "Presentation: Meeting of ICHEIC,
Washington DC, 16 November  2004."

[29] See note 12.

[30] Letter from Chairman Eagleburger to ICHEIC
Commissioners, Alternatives and Observers, 1 November 2004.

[31] See note 27.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 

1 
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APPEARANCES: 
SAMUEL J. DUBBIN. P.A. 
DUBBIN & KRAVETZ, llP 
Commerce bank Center Fourth Floor 
220 Alhambra Circle 
Coral Gables. FL 33134 
By: Samuel J. Dubbin. ESQ. 
Appearing on behalf of the plaintiffs. 

2 

CASE NO. 01-1859 (IV SEITZ 7 
5 

6 IRVING ROSNER, et ai., 

7 ' .. Plaintiffs, 

8 vs. 

9 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

10 Defendants. 

11 

12 

13 

--------------------------------x 

220 Alhambra Circle 
Coral Gables, Florida 
Monday, March 22, 2004 
9:25 a.m. 

VIDEOTAPE DEPOSITION OF DAVID MERMELSTEIN 

3 

1 Thereupon: 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the videotape 

deposition of David Mermelstein. This video 

deposition has been noticed by Attorney Carolyn A. 

McKee from the United States Department of Justice 

in the matter of Irving Rosner, et al. versus the 

United·States of America. This is Case No. 

Ol-lBS9-CIV in the United States District Court, 

Southern District of Florida, Miami Division. This 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

And 

CUNEO WALDMAN & GILBERT, llP 
317 Massachusetts Ave., N.E. 
Suite 300 
Washington, DC 20002 
By: David W. Stanley, Esq .. 
Appearing on behalf of the Plaintiffs. 

U. S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
20 Massachusetts Ave., N,W. 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
By: Carolyn A. McKee, Esq. 
And Jeffrey M. Smith 
Appearing on behalf of the Defendants. 

18 WITNESS DIRECT CROSS REDIRECT 
91 DAVID MERMELSTEIN 3 63 

MS. McKEE: Carolyn McKee, for the United 

States. 

MR. SMITH: Jeffery Smith, for the United 

States. 

MR. DUBBIN: Samuel Dubbin, for the 

plaintiffs. 

4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 MR. STANLEY: David Stanley, for plaintiffs. 

8 BY MS. McKEE: 

9 Q. If I could begin. Good morning, 

10 deposition is being taken at the offices of Dubbin & 10 Mr. Mermelstein. 

11 

12 

Kravetz, llP at 220 Alhambra Circle, Suite 400, 

Coral Gables, Florida. Today is March 22nd, 2004. 

11 

12 

A. Good morning. 

Q. How are you? Again, my name is Carolyn McKee. 

13 The court reporter is Lolane Guffey from Fernandez & 13 I am an attorney at the Department of Justice and I 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Associates. The videographer is Jeff Menton of 

Valuable Video. We are on the video record. The 

time is 9:2S a.m. 

Will the court reporter please swear the 

witness in and then would counsel state their 

appearances for the record. 

Thereupon: 

21 DAVID MERMELSTEIN 

-22 was called as a witness, and having been first duly 

23 sworn, was examined and testified on his oath as 

24 follows: 

25 D1,,<';'""":" ~i\AMINATION 

14 represent the United States in this matter. Sitting 

15 next to me is a court reporter. She is going to take 

16 down every word that you and I say, and at the end of 

17 the table is a videographer who is going to be -- at the 

18 request of the court is going to be videotaping what 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

~ 25 

goes on here today. 

A. Okay. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Have you ever been deposed before? 

Once. 

Once. And in what context? 

I sold a business and I had to take it back. 

Very gOOd. So you are a little famil iar with 



5 

1 how this is going to go --

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

A 1 itUe. 

-- but I just want to remind you a little bit 

4 of the sort of ground rules and make sure we are all on 

5 the same page. In a few minutes I am going to ask you 

6 questions related to the facts in this lawsuit. If you 

7 don't clearly hear one of my questions, please, ask me 

8 to repeat it. 

9 

10 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Okay. 

Will you agree to do that? 

Yes. 

If you don't understand a question, tell me. 

13 This can be very informal. So will you do that? 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Okay. If you don't know or don't remember the 

16 answer to a question, just say so. Will you do that? 

17 

18 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Also, if at any time during the deposition you 

6 

1 as much as we can. This is not --- we can take breaks, 

2 go to the resttoom --

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

Okay. 

-- do all that kind of thing. For the most 

5 part, as long as there is not a question pending, I will 

6 be happy to take a break. 

7 

8 

A. 

Q. 

Good. 

If you answer the question, I will assume you 

9 understood the question. 

10 

11 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Okay. Are you taking any medicine or drugs of 

12 any kind today that would prevent you from speaking 

13 truthfully or understanding? 

14 A. Today, no. Actually, I don't take medicine in 

15 the morning. 

16 

17 

18 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Okay. Are you -- are you feeling well today? 

Yes. 

19 realize that an earlier answer was somehow incomplete or 19 you think you can't give full answers and truthful 

20 wrong for whatever reason, just -- if you could just 20 answers today? 

21 tell me and we will be happy to go back and correct the 21 A. No. 

22 record. Will you do that? _ ... '" 22 

23 

24 

A. 

Q . 

Okay. 

Next. if you need a break for any reason,. 

...f 25 ple~~e, tell me. We wi 11 be happy to accommodate that 

7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q 

18 retired? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Where do you live, sir? 

9121 Southwest 66 Terrace, Miami. 

Are you married? 

Yes. 

What is your wife's name? 

Irene. 

Do you have children, sir? 

Yes. Three children. 

And grandchildren? 

Three. 

What about great grandchildren? 

Not yet. 

Not yet. How long have you lived in Miami? 

53 years. 

Are you employed or retired at this time? 

Retired. 

Retired. And what did you do before you 

Worked and owned a dry cleaning. 

What is your birth date, sir? 

12-21-28. 

Where were you born? 

CzechOslovaki a. 

What town in CzeChoslovakia? 

Kivjazd. 

23 your name for the record, please, si r. 

A. The name is Dav.jd. t1ermel-stein. 

25 M-E-R-M-E-l-S-T-E-I-N. 

1 

2 

3 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Could you spell that? 

K-I-V-J-A-Z-D. 

So when you were born you were a Czech 

4 citizen; is that correct? 

A. Yes, yes. 

Q. What citizenship do you hold now? 

A. U.S. 

8 

5 

6 

7 

8 Q. Have you ever held a citizenship of another 

9 country? 

10 

11 

12 

13 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

No, just -­

Just the two? 

Just the two. Although they may --

Q. When did you become -- when did you become a 

14 naturalized citizen of the United States? 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

It was '54. 

1954? 

'54? Either three or four. yes. 

To the best of your recollection --

A. Yes. 

Q. -- 1954? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. When you naturalized. did you give up your 

23 Czech citizenship? 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

Oh, yeah. 

Do you have 2"" f~"!lily in Czechoslovakia flOW' 
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25 

9 

A. No. 

Q. Any family in Hungary? 

A. (Wi tness nods head). 

MR. DUBBIN: David. Mr. Mermelstein, make sure 

you let her finish the question before you answer, 

okay. And state your answer verbally, because 

although she's good at sign language it's better if 

you state your answer on the record. 

THE WITNESS: Well. do you consider a cousin : 

family? 

BY MS. McKEE: 

Q. Yes, I do. 

A. Oh. Then yes. 

Q. Where;s your cousin? 

A. Australia·· 

Q. Okay. 

A. -- Israel and Brooklyn. 

Q. Are you in contact with those cousins? 

A. With the one in Brooklyn, yes. 

Q. But not with the others? 

A. In Israel occasionally but not that often. 

Q. Okay. Very good. 

(Whereupon, there was a brief interruption.) 

THE WITNESS: Let me turn it off. _ Okay. 

BY MS. McKEE: 

A. He owned a business. 

Q. What kind of business? 

A. Similar to a pub. 

Q. I am sorry? 

A. Similar to a pub where they sold -­

Q. Yes. 

11 

A. -- wine, whiskey. liquor, beer, all that. In 

Europe you couldn't sell it allover. It had to be a 

speCial place for all that. 

Q. Is this the house that you lived in at the 

time of the war? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you ever live in any other house -­

A. No. 

Q. -- in Czechoslovakia? 

A. No. 

Q. I know this is a difficult subject. sir. but 

at some point you were forced to leave your home; is 

that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And your entire family was? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Where did you go? 

A. To the ghetto. And they took us to a city 

called Beregszasz 

. 
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17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

10 

Q. Have you visited Czechoslovakia since you left 

it, sir? 

A. Once-. 

Q. When was that? 

A. About six -- six, seven years ago. 

Q. And the purpose of your visit? 

A. I went back to my hometown. 

Q. How long was your visit? 

A. Two weeks. 

Q. Sir, where did your family live when you were 

born? 

A. In that house. 

Q. In the house in -­

A. Kivjazd . 

Q. Kivjazd? 

A. Yes. 

Q. For how long did they live there? 

A.- Doh, my father was born there. 

Q. Okay. And did you have -- what other family 

members lived with you in that house? 

A. The grandparents and an aunt. And you mean 

the r~st of the fa~i!y? 

Q. Yes, please. 

.A. ft~e Qr:othe.rs .• a ~i.S!t.er an9. paren.t;.S!. 

Q. Did your father work. sir? 

12 

Q. Can you spell that, sir? If not we can --

A. Yes. 

MR. DUBBIN: It's in the -- it's in the 

complaint. 

MS. McKEE: Okay. 

BY MS. McKEE: 

go? 

Q. And all of your family members went with you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. At the -- where did you go next? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

From the ghetto they took us to Auschwitz. 

And at the end of the war, sir. where did you 

After I was liberated? 

Yes. 

Back to the hometown. 

Howald were you at that time? 

16 and a half. 

What did you find in your hometown? 

An empty town. 

Did you go to your house? 

Yes. 

And what did you find? 

Nothing. 

From there where did you go, sir? 

Whew. I overstayed my ;.;elccme there. left 



13 

1 because it became p_art of Russia. So I went back to 

2 - Czechoslovakia, to Germany to a displaced person camp_ 

3 Q. When you say that your town in Czechoslovakia 

4 was overtaken by the Russians -- is that right. by the 

5 Soviets? 

6 

7 

A. 

Q. 

Yeah, after the war. 

After the war. Okay. Do you remember when 

8 you arrived in tl1at displaced person camp in Germany? 

9 

10 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. November 1945. 

And when were you liberated from -­

May the Sth, 1945. 

So during those months in between you were 

1 A. The UNRO, United Nations Reorganization. 

2 Actually, the American army was in charge. 

What languages were spoken at that camp? 

Mainly Jewish. 

Mainly -- I am sorry? 

Jewish. 

Jew -- what language? 

Yiddish. 

14 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. Yiddish. Okay. Did you speak Yiddish at the 

10 time,. sir? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

Oh. yeah. 

13 traveling back to your hometown and spent time there; is 13 A. 

Were there other Czechoslovakians at the camp? 

Yes. From allover the world. 

14 that right? 

15 A. Well, I was sick after -- stayed in 

16 Czechoslovakia for awhile and then went back home, yes. 

17 Q. Do you remember the name of the displaced 

18 person camp? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q .. 

23 camp? 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

Oh, su re. 

What is that? 

Landsberg Amlach. 

And __ wha-~ountry or organization ran that 

UNRO. 

I am sorry? 

15 

1 newspapers, no CNN. 

2 Q. What was the U. S. Army telling you at that 

3 time? 

4 A. They weren't -- they weren't telling us -- we 

5 were -- we were -- you could say we were under their 

6 control but we didn't have di rect contact with the 

7 Americans. 

8 Q. Who did you have -- whO did you have direct 

9 contact wi-th? 

10 A. In the displaced person camp there were --

11 like a leadership_ 

12 Q. After you have left the camp in November --

13 no, I am sorry. After you left the camp in March of 

14 1947. where did you go? 

15 A. That's when they picked some of the younger 

16 ones and took us to Pren. And we were getting ready 

17 like to come to the United States. 

18 

19 

20 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Where is Pren, sir? 

In Germany. 

In Germany. Could you spell that? Do you 

21 remember? 

22 

23 

24 

Q. 

A. 

we~t to 

Where did you stay in Pren? 

It was a building under the Americans where we 

the consul back and forth. 

14 Q. 

15 there? 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Were there other -- were there Hungarians 

Yes. 

How long did you spend at that camp? 

From November '4S to March 1947. 

What was life like at the camp? 

Miserable. One word. We were seven men in a 

21 room and the food was on a meal ticket. 

22 Q. (lid you"receive~news f.rom elsewhere ·'l-n the 

23 world? Did you receive news from Europe or from the 

24 Uni ted St.a.tes? 

25 

1 

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Very little, very little. There was no 

How long were you there? 

Only about a month. 

16 

And who was in charge of that move? Was it 

4 the U.S. United States? 

5 

6 

A. 

Q. 

7 to Pren? 

8 A. 

The United States with UNRO. 

Did you have a choice on whether or not to go 

No. You want to -- eventually you are hoping 

9 to come to the Un; ted States. 

10 Q. What happened -- what happened next? Where 

11 did you go next? 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

To the United States. 

Where. in the United States? 

Where we arrived? 

Yes. 

Pier 5 in New York. 

Where did you go when you arrived? 

An aunt. I went to my aunt. 

Where was your aunt living? 

Well, she passed away now, but she lived in 

21 Brooklyn. 193 Hooper Street. 

22 Q. Was -- your aunt was an American citizen; is 

23 that right? 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

How -- did you ... 1 Lll your aunt then? 

. 

• 



1 

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

For how long? 

About a year. 

17 

4 Q. How long: had your aunt been in the United 

5 States? 

6 A. Oh, I think she came after the First World 

7 War. 

What did she do here? 

Her husband was a tailor. 

8 

9 

10 

Q. 

A. 

Q. Where did you go after leaving your aunt's 

11 house? 

12 A. I went to West Warwick. Rhode Island. I had 

13 an uncle there. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Island? 

Had your uncle been here before the war? 

Before the war, yes. 

He was an American citizen? 

Yes. 

What did he do? 

He worked as a bookkeeper. 

Did you go and live with your uncle? 

Yes. 

Fa r how long? 

One year. 

What did you do during that time? 

I worked in a clothing factory. 

A year. And then another year in Rhode 

A. Yeah. 

Q. Are we then in 1949? 

A. '49. yeah. 

19 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 Q. 1949. How long did you live in Clifton, New 

7 Jersey? 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

The rest of '49. 

Okay. Then where did you go. sir? 

Miami. 

Q. What brought you to Miami? 

A. What part? 

Q. What brought you to Miami? 

A. Oh, oh. Honeymoon. 

Q. Where did you meet your wife? 

A. Oh. that's a long story. 

Q. Where? 

A. In Czechoslovakia. 

Q. Did she come with you from the -­

A. No. 

21 Q. camp? Okay. You met up again in the 

22 United States? 

23 

24 

A. 

Q. 

We met up again, yes. 

During this time that you were in the United 

125 States right after the war, when you were in Brooklyn. 

18 

1 

2 

3 

Q. When you came to·the"United States, sir. you 

came by yourself: is that right? 

A. Yes--

4 Q. Without other family members? 

5 What did you do after you left your uncle's 

6 hOuse? 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Went to New Jersey. 

Where;, in New Jersey? 

Cl if ton. 

What did you do there? 

Worked in a clothing factory. 

With whom did you live? 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. There I lived with a cousin for awhile. Then 

took a room, lived on my own. 

Q. Do you remember what year this is now? 

A. Oh, yeah. End of '48. 

Q. End of 1'948. I just want to go over the 

dates. sir: .. You 'came' over to the--United St-ates"in' March' 

19 of 19 -- no. April of 1947? 

March. March 14th. 1947. 

Okay. Is that the day you arrived? 

Ye~_._;. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

A. 

Q. 

A. 
Q. Then you spent a year with your -- how long 

2.4 did you 1 i~e. wit!] YQ_u.r aunt in Brqbklyn? 

25 A. About a year. 

20 

1 and Rhode Island and New Jersey, were you in contact 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

with anyone in Europe? 

A. For awhile in the displaced person camp. yeah. 

friends that didn't come out yet. 

Q. Friends that you had met at the displaced -­

A. Yeah. 

Q. What kind of contact was that? Was it 

8 letters? 

9 A. 

10 often. 

Letters, yeah. That's why it wasn't that 

11 Q. What were you hearing from them in the 

12 letters? 

13 A. Just how anxious they were to get someplace. 

14 Q. Anything about the political situation there? 

15 A. No. 

16 Q. Mostly about themselves? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 O. So you moved to Miami in what month? 

19 A December the 3rd. 1950. 

20 O. With your wife; is that right? 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

What did you do when you arrived here, sir? 

In Miami? 

Yes. 

I worked in a dry cleaner. 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

How long did you do that? 

For 21 years. 

And what did you do after that? 

I went in business for myself. 

So you you bought a dry cleaning? 

I start --

You opened it? 

Opened one. 

Opened a dry cleaning? 

Yes. 

11 Q. How long did you own your store, S1 r? 

21 

12 A. I opened ; n 1970 and sold tM t. open anathe r 

13 one. About three years ago I ret; red. 

14 

15 

16 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Got it. 

Three, four years ago. 

In your life in Miami for the last SO years --

22 

1 preSident to the-national organization; and the board of 

2 the Jewish Social,. Services; and advisory board to the --

3 Jewish Family Service. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Q. When were you president- of t-he local 

survivors? 

A. For -- Oh. 

Q. Approximately. 

A. About eight years ago. 

Q. For how long was your term? 

MR. DUBBIN: Well, let -- can I make sure -­

Why don't you rephrase the question because I am not 

sure -- she said the local surviv-- president of the 

local survivors. 

THE WITNESS: Miami chapter. 

MR. DUBBIN: Right. 

MS. HcK~E: Yes. 

17 53 years, have you been a member of the Jewish community 17 THE WITNESS: Miami branch. 

18 here? 

19 A. 

20 

21 

22 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Oh, yeah. 

What sort of things do you do? 

What sort of things I do ;n the community? 

Yes. 

23 A. Well, 1 was preSident from the local survivors 

24 of Miami. Then I became president of the Stat.e of 

2S''''''Florida, the Coalition of Holocaust survivors; Vice 

1 

2 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Approximately how many years? 

Four. 

23 

You said you were president of the Florida 

5 chapter -- I am sorry, the Florida Survivors --

6 

7 

8 

A. Coal ition. 

Q. -- Coalition. For how long have you been --

were you president or have you been president of the 

9 state organization? 

10 

11 

A. 

Q. 

For the past three -- this is the fourth year. 

This is the fourth year. Were you members of 

12 those two organizations before you became president? 

13 

14 

15 

16 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I was a member of the first. 

When did you become a member of the first? 

In the middle '50s. 

What does -- what sorts of things does that --

17 does the local chapter do? 

18 

19 

MR. DUBBIN: Okay.' ram ·s·Or'rv'. 

MS. HcKEE: Thank you. 

20 BY MS. McKEE: 

21 Q. When were you president of the local survivors 

22 -Miami branch? 

23 A. Well, I am still preSident, even though we 

24 are sl,J.rv_ivl?r.~ dwinqled a~~w. -

25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Q. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Have you been president for a number of years? 

Was that up and running in the 1950's? 

No, no. 

When did that one start? 

That's only about three. four years? 

Three or four years ago? 

Yeah. 

24 

Q. What about the state organization, when did 

that start? 

A. 

Q. 

Also about five years ago. 

When you were a member of the local 

11 organization did you get news from overseas at all about 

12 things that were going on in Czechoslovakia? 

13 

14 

A. Well, we talked about it, yeah. 

Q. Were there any publications that came out of 

15 this chapter, this group? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

Not from that group. 

Did you, during this time from -- at any 

18 A. Well, we started not so much as a chapter like 18 period between 1950 and today. have you read survivor 

19 you know. We started because we didn't have nobody. So 19 publications of some -- any kind? 

20 we found and met each other. So when there was any 20 

21 occasion. we invited our friends. And we made some 21 

22 money. and we helped our own people if they -needed help. 22 

A. Yes. 

Q. What are those publications? 

A. The American Gathering. 

23 Nobody rient to weI fare - - on weI fare. 23 Q. And when did you read that? 

24 Q. Is there a National Survivors Organization? 24 A. I think it was coming out quarterly. 

25 1-. 'fE'S j 25 Q. Was that coming out in the 1950s? !. L-____________________________ ~~ __ ~~~~~~~~~~ ______ ~ 
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11 

12 

out. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

25 

I ca~'t tell you what year it started to come 

Approximately? 

Wasn't 'SO, no, not in '50. 

A decade? '60s or '70s? 

Probably -- yeah. 

Q. What sort of -- what news was in that or what 

type of material was in that publication? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Well, an interest of the survivors. 

Where was that PUblished; do you know? 

New York. 

New York. Anything -- did you read any other 

13 publications, survivor publications? 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Not survivor publications at that time, no. 

Any other publications about the Holocaust? 

Well, the papers had it always. 

The newspapers?_ 

Yeah. 

What newspapers do you read? 

A. The Miami Herald, the local Jewish Journal and 

occasionally the New York paper. 

Q. Are those the same publica!ion~~Ou have been 

reading over your 50 years? 

Yes. A. 

Q. So when you were here -- first arrived in 

27 

Q. What other sorts of organizations do you 

belong to in Miami? 

A. That's all. 

Q. Okay. Sir. returning to the time when you 

5 were living in Czechoslovakia during the war was there a 

6 time when your family'S belongings were taken from you? 

7 

8 

9 

it? 

A. What, specifically. or when. how do you mean 

Q. As I understand, you were living in a house 

10 wi th your fam; ly members --

11 

12 

l3 

A. Yes. 

Q. -- in CZechoslovakia during the war. At 

some .- at any point did someone come and ask for your 

14 belongings? 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. Not during CzechOslovakia time, no. 

MR. DUBBIN: Can we -- you want to -- I mean 

the complaint alleges that where he was living in 

Czechoslovakia became part of Greater Hungary in 

1939 and that's --

THE WITNESS: Oh, yeah. That's why --

MR. DUBBIN: You didn't ask that question. 

MS. McKEE: That's' the confusion. Okay. 

MR. DUBBIN: So I think that's the -- that's 

the confusion. 

MS. Me!-"'!:!:: O;,:.ay_ 

26 

1 Miami in the '50s and '60s, were you -- where were you 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

getting your news about what was 'going on in Europe? 

A. Well, the Miami Herald. and there is a Jewish 

radio an-houf or so a·week. 

Q. I am sorry, sir? 

A. The Miami Herald, and there is a Jewish radio 

program once a week. 

Q. Do you remember -- is that radio program still 

9 runn i ng? 

10 A. Not that particular one but there is another 

11 one. 

12 Q. Okay. What's the name of the current one, if 

13 you know? 

14 

15 

16 

A. let's see. Danny Tadmore is the host but the 

name of the program is -­

Q. Don't worry, sir. Do you remember the host or 

17 anything about the earl ier one? 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

. .24 

·'25 

No. 

Do you belong to a temple here? 

Yes. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. Have you belonged to the same temple for the 

last' 50 years -- 5"3- years? 

A. Not 53. I joined the temple in 1953. 

.. Q. 

A. Zion. 

28 

1 BY MS. McKEE: 

2 

3 

Q. Sir, when you were living in your house in 

Czechoslovakia, when then became Hungary, at some point 

4 did your -- did someone come and take your -- ask or 

5 take your belongings from you? 

6 

7 

8 

9 

A. Well, I don't know how you -- belongings. 

They took half of the house, took the business away. 

Q. -- who took the house? 

A. Two Hungarian gendarme. equal to police, and a 

10 German officer. 

11 

12 

l3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Q. Did they physically remove belongings from 

inside the house? 

A. Yes. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Did you witness that. sir? 

Yes. 

Did they take things from your father's 

business? 

A. Not -- not fr~m the business, itself, but 

there was 

Q. Okay. What was taken when the officers. the 

21 Hungarian officers -- when the gendarme came to the 

22 house? Do you remember what they took? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. What was that? 

25 'ney took -- there was 2 cabinet ~;~n _ i 
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1 dowery, all the fancy linen table cloths, chandeliers. 

2 

3. 

Q. ~-.Anything else? 

A. Well, they took something but I didn't see the 

4 jewelry; a handful. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Okay. Did they leave anything in the house? 

Yes. 

What did they leave? 

5 

6 

7 

8 A. ',,_W!'!ll, ;n the rest of the house we had the 

9 sewing machine, we had the crystal, we had stuff that 

10 was handed down from generation to generation. 

11 Q. Okay. Did they come more than once to your 

12 house to take property? 

13 

14 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Did they give you or your parents a receipt of 

15 any kind for the property they took? 

16 A. I saw him gave a paper, but I didn't see what 

17 was written on it. 

18 

19 

-
Q Could you repeat that, sir? 

A. They gave a piece of paper but I couldn't see 

20 what it was wri tten on it. 

21 

22 

23 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

24 paper? 

25 A. 

You personally didn't see it; is that right? 

I saw the paper they left but I didn't --

Is that because your parents had the piece of 

(Witness nods head). 

31 

1 as they took ; t away? 

2 

3 

A. 

Q. 

Tied it up in like a sheet or something. 

Did your parents put their names on the 

4 property? 

5 

6 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Was there any other identifying mark on the 

7 property? 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

No. It was all handmade. 

Did you or your family give any property to 

10 the neighbors at this time? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Did you hide -- did you or your family hide 

13 any property in the residence? 

14 A. My father -- my father did hide something. I 

15 saw him go up to that more than once. One time I saw 

16 him with papers, which I assumed it was some of the 

17 papers that 'he had that he took them to the United 

18 States. 

19 

20 

21 

22 . 

23 

24 

I 2S 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Q. 

A. 

Q 

Where did he hide those? 

In the attic. 

In the attic? 

(Witness nods head). 

Did you see him hide anything else? 

He went up a few times but --

~o !iVU remember what he was hiding? 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

30 

~~. DUBBIN: Why don't you make sure you 

answer-verbally; not with a nod but with a statement 

yes, okay? 

THE WITNESS: Oh. 

MR. DUBBIN: And can you tell whether his 

voice is coming across? 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: I am hearing him clearly. 

I have his microphone ki~~~d up just a tad. 

THE WITNESS: I will answer clear. 

10 BY MS. McKEE: 

11 Q. At any point did your parents take property to 

12 turn it over to the government? 

13 

14 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

How many times did the gendarme come to your 

15 house to take property? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

Once. 

If you remember, sir, when the gendarme came 

18 to your house--did they choose wl1at--to take 'or" "did your 

19 parents give them certain things? 

20 A. No. When they opened up that closet they --

21 they saw there what they wanted, not -- they saw the 

22 stuff and they- took what they want~d-:_J:o~ke. 

23 

24 

'25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Q. 

A 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

They just took what they wanted to take? 

Yeah. 

Do you remember how they paCkaged the property-' .... 
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No. 

Do you know anything else that he was hiding? 

No. 

When you and your family left that house and 

5 moved to the ghetto. did you take any property with you? 

6 A. No property, just what you could carry. They 

7 only gave us an hour to pack. 

8 Q. Sir, the property that was taken by the 

9 gendarme, have you seen any of that property since that 

10 day? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

When you returned to the house after the war 

13 what did you find? 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

Nothing ;n the rooms. 

So there was nothing -- the property that had 

16 been left by the gendarme was then gone? 

17 

18 

A. 

Q. 

No. It was gone, yes. 

It was gone, yes. Okay. 

19 After the war did you make any efforts to find 

20 the property, either that was taken by the gendarme or 

21 the property that was left in the house and then 

22 disappeared? 

23 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

I am sorry? 

That was a complicated question. I will --

Well. I wasn't sure if you -- how you mean it. 



33 

1 Q. I will start again. After the war did you 

2 make any efforts to track down the property that the 

3 gendarme had taken from your family? 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

What did you do? 

By asking the people. 

Which people? 

The neighbors. 

Were there non -- did you have non Jewish 

10 neighbors? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

13 the war? 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

And those neighbors had been there throughout 

Yes. 

What did the neighbors say? 

They took it away. 

When they said --

The Hungarian and the Germans. 

Did you make any other efforts to find the 

20 property? 

21 A. No. 

22 ...". Q. When you were in the displaced persons camp 

23 did you ask any officials about the property? 

24 

25 

1 

2 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Officials? 

Di~LY()U ask the people running the camp about 
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No. 

And did you ever contact anyone in the United 

3 States Government to track down -- to ask about the 

4 property? 

5 

6 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Sir, have you ever seen notices about ways to 

7 file claims for property lost during the war? 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

Did I see what? 

A notice or an explanation of how to file a 

10 claim to get property lost in the war back? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Do you and your family members here, did you 

13 talk about the lost property over the years? 

14 

15 

16 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

What kind of things do you say? 

Well. that we didn't really know what happened 

17 to the items that they took from us, the gold. 

18 Q. Did you have any idea at any point what 

19 happened to it after the gendarme took it? 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. We knew that --

MS. McKEE: That's a --

MR. DUBBIN: Pretty open-ended question. 

MS. McKEE: very. 

MR. DUBBIN: vague. Maybe you could clarify 

"at any time." 
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1 the property? 

2 

3 

A.' No. 

Q. When you were at the displaced persons camp 

4 did you ever ask a U. S. Army soldier about the 

5 property? 

6 

7 

A. 

Q. 

No. We weren't in touch with them. 

Okay. When you came to the United States in 

8 the lal1!e., '40s did you make any efforts at that time to 

9 find or track down the whereabouts of the property? 

10 A. Well, we talked about it but nObody knew how, 

11 what to do. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Q. When you say we talked about it --

A. - Survivors. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

The survivors together talked about in 

Yeah. 

And since that time, since -- u~til you filed 

17 this lawsuit, what other efforts, if any, did you make 

18 to -track down the property? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

What other efforts? How do you mean? 

Did you ever contact the Czechoslovakian 

21 government? 

22 A. Well. it-was -~ there was no more 

23 Czechoslovakia government as far as we were concerned. 

24 We_were not part of Czechoslov_aki~ no more_. ei.ther. 

25 Q. Did you ever contact thEf Hungari an government? 
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1 MS. McKEE: I am happy to. 

2 BY MS. McKEE: 

3 Q. Before the late 1990s -- in the 1950's did 

4 you -- what did you think had happened to the property? 

5 A. Well. we knew the Hungarian government got it 

. 

6 because the police or national -- not local police. like 

7 here. 

8 Q. Did you know anything about what the 

9 government did with the property after they took it? 

10 

11 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Other than your family members and other 

12 survivors have you spoken to anybody else about the 

13 property over the years? 

14 

15 

16 

17 

A. When you say over the years --

MR. DUBBIN: Again, you are -- maybe you could 

clarify that for specificity Since that encompasses 

a long period of time, including after the suit. 

18 BY MS. McKEE: 

19 Q. During the 19 -- before -- I will rephrase 

20 that question. 

21 Other than your family members and other 

22 - su"r'vivors. in the 1950s did you talk about the property 

23 with anyone else? 

24 A. No. 

25 In tne 1960's did you talk with the property 
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1 about anyone -- with anyone"else other than family 

2 members and other survivors-?" 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

What about in the 1970s? 

No. 

In the 1980s? 

No. 

Then in the 1990s you have been speaki,ng with 

9 other people; is that correct? 

10 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

In late 1990s. 

With whom have you spoken about the property? 

Well. 1999 you mean? Then we started to try 

13 to find out how we could go about finding out -- after 

14 the commission. you mean? 

15 Q. Whenever. sir, you first learned about or 

16 st:arted talking about this property again with --

17 

18 

19 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

After. 

-- people out -- other than survivor's? 

1999, I think after the -- President Clinton 

20 appointed the commission and they came out with that 

21 report then. 

22 Q. In the years after the war. si r. diet you kn.ow 

23 that some Jewish property had been sold at auction in 

24 New York? 

25 A. Some art, yes. 
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1 A. Came from Hungarian Jews that came from 

2 Budapest. 

3 Q. Did you learn that from -- where did you -~ 

4 where did you learn that? Did you speak to those 

5 people? 

6 A. Well. we were talking between ourselves. so it 

7 came down. 

8 Q. Just to clarify. so you learned ;n the 1970s 

9 or '80s by speaking to Hungarian survivors that there 

10 had been a train found in Austria' that may have had 

11 Jewi sh property on it? 

12 

13 

14 

15 

MR. DUBBIN: I object. That's not what his 

testimony was. 

MS. McKEE: Okay. 

MR. DUBBIN: Maybe you -- mischaracterizes the 

16 question. 

17 BY MS. McKEE: 

18 Q. Okay. Sir, what did you learn in the 1970s 

19 from other -- from Hungarian survivors? 

A. That the gold --

MR. DUBBIN: Again, you know, his testimony 

1 

2 

Q. 

A. 
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What did you know about that auction? ._ 

Just read in the paper that some of the art 

3 was in the museum or it was sold. 

4 Q. What was your understanding of where that art 

5 came from? 

6 

7 

A. 

Q. 

It was stolen from the Jews. 

Did you have -- did the gendarme take any art 

8 from your house? 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Did you learn anything else about that auction 

11 in New York when you were --

12 

13 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

-- living there? 

No. 

Sir, when did you first hear that a Hungarian 

16 train had been located in Austria with Jewish property 

17 on it? 

18 A. Well, there was talk about it, thea-- when the 

19 Russians were approaching. that the Hungarian government 

20 shipped it to Austria. 

21 

2.2 
23 

24 

25 

1 

Q. 

A. 

When was that talk? 

What year? I can't remember what year. 

Q. Can you tell me a decade? 

A.. Mus:t. have Q,een in t.he '70s, . 80s. 

Q. Where did you -- where did that talk happen? 
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Q. What did you learn in either the '70s or the 

2 '80s from Hungarian survivors? 

3 A. That gold. art, carpets all the stuff that 

4 they took away from the Jews were loaded on a train and 

5 shipped to Austria. 

6 Q. Did you ever think that your family's property 

7 might have been on that train? 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Okay. Did you think that in the 1970s or 

10 '80s. at the time that you heard about the -- first 

11 heard about the train? 

12 

13 

A. 

Q. 

Yes, 

What else did you learn during those 

14 discussions during the 1970s or '80s? 

15 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

About the gold train? 

Yes, 

That's all, that there was stuff on there. box 

18 with names, addresses. 

19 Q. Did you learn at that time that the U. S. Army 

20 had taken custody of the train? 

21 A. Not at that time, no. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

was it was -- he wasn't quite specific on the decade 22 Q. What did you learn about the' contents of the 

that he heard it. 

MS, McKEE: Okay. 

25 BY MS. McKEE: 

23 train at that time? 

24 

25 

MR. DUBBIN: I believe he answered the 

question but -- so I vVle •• eo,", it's been asked J 
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1 cmd answered. 

2 BY As::,-,· McKEE : 

3 Q Did you learn anything in addition to what you 

4 have already said? 

5 

6 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

What other discussions were you having with 

7 other -- with Hungarian survivors during the 1970s and 

8 

9 

10 

'80s about Hungarian Je,wi.sh property taken during the 

war? 

A. What other conversations? No other 

11 conversations. 

So that the --
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1 that the United States Government took under control. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Where did you f·i'Fst read that report? 

The Herald. 

I am sorry? 

In the Herald. 

Are you aware, sir. that there was an interim 

7 report by that commission and a final report? 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Do you remember -- strike that. 

10 do, s; r. upon reading that report? 

What did you 

11 A. Well. first we were talking between ourselves 

12 how -- what we could do. 12 

13 

14 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Basically, there was a -- 13 

-- primary focus -- the primary focus then was 14 

Q. 

A. 

And by "among ourselves," you mean? 

Survivors. 

15 about the gOld train? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

The gold train. 

When did you first learn that the U. S. Army 

18 had taken custody of the {rain? 

19 

20 

21 

22 

MR. DUBBIN: And I believe he's answered that 

had question already but you are free to answer. 

THE WITNESS: 1999 when -- after the --

President Clinton's commissioner came out with it. 

23 BY MS. MeKE E: 

24 

25 

1 

Q. 

A. 

A. 

After the commission came out with what? 

The report of what happened to the prop~r.t-ies 
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Some of it was taken by the officers, some of 

2 it was auctioned, and some of it -- still don't know. 

3 Q. Is there anything else that you think the army 

4 did wrong? 

5 

6 

7 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

What? 

By not returning it to the -- at that time. to 

8 the Hungarian government or the Jewish Agency. 

9 

10 

11 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

By Jewish agency, what do you mean? 

In Budapest. 

Is the Jewish -- by the Jewish agency, do you 

12 mean -- do you mean an international Jewish 

13 organization? 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

A. No. The Hungarian. 

Q. The Hungarian Jewish -­

A. In Budapest. 

Q. -- Agency? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. What is that organization? 

A. Well, it would be, I guess, similar to the 

21 Jewish Congress in the United States. 

22 

23 

24 

Q 

A. 

Q. 

And,,:-t-hcit was a Hungarian local Jewish group? 

Yeah. 

Do you know if that group asked for the 

i 25 property? 

15 

16 

17 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Then what did you do? 

Then we got in touch with Mr. Dubbin. 

Sir, why. do you feel that" the U.S. -- strike 

18- that. Do you bel i eye- that the "tt S. Army d1i:(someth-{ng 

19 wrong with the property on the train? 

20 

21 

22 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

What do you believe they did wrong? 

Well, when they took control over it, and what 

23 happened to it? 

24. Q._ What do you understand that the U. S. Army did 

25 with the property? 

1 

2 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

They did ask for the property? 

They did. 

44 

Is there anything else that you think that the 

5 U.S. Army did wrong with regard to the property on the 

6 train? 

7 

8 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Besides what I mentioned? 

Besides what you mentioned. 

No, I don't think. 

Sir, have you read anything or -- strike that. 

11 What have you read that's been written about the gOld 

12 train? 

13 A. That some of it was taken by the officers, 

14 some of it was Shipped home, some was auctioned off. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Q. Where did you read that? 

A. In the paper. 

Q. In the Miami Herald? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Anywhere else? 

A. From Mr. Dubbin. 

Q. Have you read anything else about the gold 

22 train, other than what was writteI!--i:n_-the Miami Herald 

23 or that was provided to you by Mr. Dubbin? 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Have you ever met with a histGr~an Of tn1s 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

4S 

period? 

A. No. 

Q. Sir, do you believe that the U. S. Army could 

have returned your -family's property to you 

individually? 

A. Individually. Could have made an effort, yes. 

Q. Do you believe that that effort would have 

b_e.en successful? 

MR. DUBBIN: Object. I think it's 

argumentative. 

MS. McKEE: I think it's what? 

MR. DUBBIN: Argumentative. 

BY MS. McKEE: 

Q. Do you believe that the Army could have looked 

15 at your fam; ly' 5 property and connected it to you 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

personally? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Why? 

A. Because when -- when the police finds stolen 

property, they show it and see if people could identify 

it. 

Q. Is tt)ere any w-a~- other way that the U. S. 

Army could have connected the -- any property they found 

of your family's to you? _ 

MR. DUBBIN: I obj:~_G,t because it calls for the 

was sold in New York from the gold train? 

A. I looked at it, yes. 

Q. Did you recognize any of your family's 

property on that list? 

A. The way those pictures are, it's very 

difficult . 

Q. Is that -- is that a no? 

A. In what sense do you mean? 
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Q. Did you recognize any of that property -- any 

of your family's property in that auction book? 

A. No. 

Excuse me. Can we take a two-minute break? 

MS. McKEE: Absolutely. I am happy to take a 

break. 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the video record. 

The time is 10:24 a.m. 

(Short break taken) 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the video 

record. The time is 10:34 a.m. 

BY MS. McKEE: 

Q. We are back from the break, Mr. Mermelstein. 

How are you? 

A. Okay. 

Q. Good. Are you aware, sir. that, the U. S. 

~rmy was in Austria after the war? 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

46 

witness to speculate about what the army could have 

<'- ~done. 

BY HS. McKEE-: 

Q. If' you could answer the question. 

MR. DUBBIN: You are allowed answer the 

question. 

THE WITNESS: They could have, yes, by 

advertising, publ-:Lc.izing. 

BY MS. McKEE: 

Q. So what do you know about the property that 

was actually on the train at the time the United States 

Army took control of it at the end of the war? 

A. What items or ,what kind of stuff? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Well, everything that they took away from 

homes, from in the ghetto, all the gold that was 

collected, everything was on that train. 

Q", Do you bel i eve that you r" fami ly'-s --prope-rty--was--" 

on that train? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Why? 

A. Because the gold. number--on-e, and all the­

fancy linen and all that stuff. because that was listed 

a_s 01} the.J[a.in. 

Q. Have you reviewed the auction lists of"-w.hat 
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A. Yes. Yes. 

Q. Do you believe, sir, that the U. S. Army -- do 

you -- strike that. Do you understand that the U. S. 

Army sometimes used enemy property to provision their 

troops at that time? 

A. No. 

Q. If they had used property that they found in 

Europe at the time. enemy property, do you believe that 

the U. S. Army would have been able to do so 

appropriately? 

MR. DUBBIN: let me Object. First of all. you 

are calling for speculation. Second of all, I 

believe you are aSking him for a legal conclusion. 

BY MS. McKEE: 

Q. If you could answer, sir. 

A. let me get that. 

MR. DUBBIN: You want to have the court 

reporter read the question back. 

But I also Object that it's a compound 

question. 

MS. McKEE: let me rephrase the question. 

22 BY MS. McKEE·:?:. 

23 Q. Do you believe that the United States Army 

24 could have used German property at that time to supply 

[25 the; r troops after t-h", liar? 
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MR. DUBBIN: Objection. It calls for a legal 

conclusion. 

THE WITNESS: If they could use German 

property? Yes. 

5 BY MS. McKEE: 

6 Q. Do you believe that the U. S. Army could have 

7 used Hungarian property at -- to supply the troops after 

8 the war? 

9 

10 

11 

12 

A. No. 

MR. DUBBIN: Again, I object. (alls for a 

legal conclusion. But you can answer. 

THE WITNESS: No. 

13 BY MS. McKEE: 

14 Q. Why? Why the difference between German 

15 property and Hungarian property? 

16 A. The difference between the two of them is that 

17 the German property was taken from -- ,most likely from 
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1 BY HS. McKEE: 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Q. I am going to withdraw the question. 

MR. DUBBIN: I am going to move to strike the 

last answer. If I didn't object, then I am moving 

to strike. I think I objected but I don't remember. 

6 BY MS. McKEE: 

7 Q. Sir, do you feel that the United States has 

8 ,"_made misrepresentations to you about the gold train? 

9 

10 

11 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

What are those misrepresentations? 

When they took the property, until the 

12 President's commission came out we didn't know, and it 

13 was hidden from us. They didn't tell us the truth. 

14 

15 

Q. 

A. 

What didn't they tell you? 

What happened with the property once they got 

16 control over it. 

17 Q. At any time, sir, before 1999 did you make a 

18 occupied territory and the Hungarian property was stolen 18 request for informatiOrl aboutLhe ptoperty·to the U.S. [--

19 or taken away from the Jews. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 

Q. Was Hungary occupied territory during the war? 

MR. DUBBIN: Again, I Object to the request 

for a legal conclusion. He's not an expert on 

history but you can answer the question. 

THE WITNESS: Was Hungary I don't _know hOw 

you mean -- what you mean exactly. 
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Q. To your knowledge, did the United States say 

2 anything affirmative about the property that was wrong? 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

don't -- I don't know what you mean. 

I will rephrase the question. Before 1999, 

5 did the United States say anything about the property. 

6 that you know of, that was wrong? 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

MR. DUBBIN: Okay. let me object because you 

are asking him that information that he says 

nobody -- that nobody gave him at the time, and that 

these allegations are well spelled out in the 

complaint, a matter of history. 

12 BY MS. McKEE: 

13 

14 

15 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

If you could answer, sir. 

Did they --

Do you know of any statement that the United 

16 States made that was incorrect prior to 1999? 

17 

18 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Sir, do you feel that the Hungarian 

19 government, after the war, mi sled you in any way wi th 

20 regard to this property? 

21 

22 

1

23 

24 

A. No. 

Q. Do you believe that any Jewish organization 

misled you with regard to this property? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you belleve that anyone else, other than 

19 Government? 

20 

21 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

So the misrepresentation, as I understand your 

22 testimony, is that 1;..he UM:ted States didn't say anything 

23 about the property: is that correct? 

24 Wel L they ha9 tl)e information. They never 

25 shared it wi th anybody .. ~.,-;; .. 
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1 the United States, misled you with regard to this 

2 property? 

3 

4 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Sir, I want to turn to the specific claims in 

5 the lawsui t that you have brought. I know you have done 

6 this -- you have spoken generally about the property 

7 that was taken from your parents' house. Can you list 

8 for me the property for which you are making a claim in 

9 this lawsuit? 

10 

11 

A. 

Q. 

You want me to --

As best you can, I want you to list the items 

12 of property as to the best of your knowledge. 

13 A. How many pieces of -- what do you call it, the 

14 china -- not china, glassware, crystals? 

15 Q. Whatever you remember, to the best of your 

16 knowledge, I would like that, si r. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

1 25 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

One cabinet of crystals, 

By crystals do you mean glassware, stemware? 

Yes. White-colored. 

Anythi ng else? 

SeWing machine, china. 

What sort of china. table china? 

A. Yeah. Stuff that we didn't use that was 

(indicating) put away. 

Q. D1splay chlna? l, 



1 

2 day. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 
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Well. it was sets, but it wasn't used every 

The special china. 

Yes. 

Was there one set of that china? 

Two different colors. 

Two different sets? 

Yeah. 

Anything else? 

There was so much stuff in the house. 

11 Silverware. 

12 Q. Was that silverware made of silver, of actual 

13 silver? 

14 A. Yes. There were -- not the daily but we had, 

15 as observant Jews, have two sets --

16 

17 

Q. 

A. 

18 Passover. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

. - so that -- and there was a set for 

Okay. Anything else? 

I had it out of my mind now. 

Take your time. 

It's -- those special quilts, type. red satin 

23 on one side and whi te underneath. 

24 

25 

1 

2 

Q. 

A. 

A. 

Q. 

3 Jewelry? 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

A. 

Q 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Anything else? 

Right now I 
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No. 

You are not claiming any jewelry of any kind? 

Jewelry. yes. 

What jewelry are you claiming? 

Well. specifically, what I know-­

Yes. 

-- the gold rings. 

I am sorry. Gold rings? 

Gold rings. 

How many gold rings? 

One, two -- four. And two gold watches. My 

13 mother' 5 necklace. 

14 

15 

Q. 

A. 

What did that necklace look like? 

It was gold. That's all. My grandmother's. 

16 That was in the closet. and they took a bunch that I --

17 at that age --

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Your grandmother's necklace, was that? 

Yeah. Another few pieces but --

Were there any diamonds that you remember? 

Yeah. Two. 

Any other stones? 

Two was my grandmother's. My mQther had a 

24 diamond ring, yeah. 

25 Q. Ot~e~ cn=" what we have mentioned here lS 
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1 Q. In the complaint, sir, you mentioned kiddish 

2 cups? 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Oh. yeah. That was silver. Yeah. 

How many kiddish cups? 

There were four sets. 

Those were made of silver? 

Yeah. 

Also in the complaint you mention silver 

9 candelabra? 

10 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

How many silver candelabra? 

Well, as you know, in a Jewish home Friday 

13 night everybody 1 ights a candle. So it was my mother, 

14 and my aunt, and my grandmother. and one extra set 

15 from -- probably they were handed down. The last one in 

16 the house wound up with everything that was there. 

17 Q . Do you remember any other property that you're 

18 claiming in this lawsuit? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Right now I don't know. 

That's all you can remember today, sir? 

Yeah. 

You're not claiming any art; is that correct? 

No . 

You are. not Clai.ming any rugs; is that 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

. 24 

25 ~pT''rect? 
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1 there anything else that you are claiming in this 

2 lawsuit? 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

All the fine linen. 

What kinds of linens? 

All handmade. It was a dowery. 

Q. Were they table linens? 

A. Table linens. pillow Slips, crocheted like. 

Q. Is there anything else? 

A. Oh, I don't know. Down covers. Not quilts, 

10 heavier than quilts, from down. 

11 

12 

13 

14 sir? 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Oown comforters? 

Yeah. 

Is there anything else that you are claiming, 

It's hard to think. 

No. Take your time. We have time. 

Oh, the books over there. 

What kind of books? 

Two kinds. One wall of religious books, 

20 becaUse that was handed down from generation to 

21 generation. And regular books. history books and --

22 

23 

Q. 

A. 

Is there anything else. sir? 

There were a few old stuff, like antique. I 

24 remember they used to crush the stuff, what you call it. 
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MR. DUBBIN: Mortar and pestle? 1 remember them. 

THE WI~NESS: One of those, yeah. A hand iron 2 Were those ins~riptions specific to your 

3 that ~. used to put coals in it, which we didn't use 3 family? 

4 it lately. 

5 BY MS. McKEE: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

What was that made of? 

Iron. 

Iron. Was there anything else, sir? 

I am trying to go through room by room. Right 

10 now that's all I could think. 

11 Returning to the crystal in the cabinet, was 

12 there anything identify-- specifically identifiable on 

13 that crystal to your family? 

Identifiable to me? 

Yes. 

If I would see it. probably, but -- at that 

14 

15 

16 

17 age, you know, they didn't let children go and touch 

18 that. 

19 What about any of the silver? Was there 

. . 

4 

5 

6 

Yeah. 

Did they mention your family's name? 

Well, it was my -- one of them was my great 

7 grandfather. 

8 

9 

10 

Did they mention his name? 

Initials, yeah. 

His initials. Okay. What about the jewelry, 

11 was there anything identifying on the jewelry? 

12 I never really looked at the rings on the 

13 fingers, 

14 Thank you. Sir, do you have an estimate of 

15 the total value of this property that your famHy lost 

16 during the war? 

17 A . I really never sat down to try and come up 

18 wi th the fi gure be-cause -i t' s" some'thing i rTeplaceable. 

19 To set a value on something that was part of you, and 

20 anything particularly? Were there initials or anything 20 part of your family, going baCk, I don't know how many 

21 identifying on them? 

22 Not initials but the way the 1 ines_wer-A-oing 

23 (indicating). 

24 

25 

What about the kiddish cups? 

They had inscriptions, Hebrew, qut-"I don't 
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1 New York? 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

A. 

Yes. In New York? 

Yes. 

Yes, 

When did you do that? 

About five years ago. 

Had you been there before that? 

No. 

Have you visited the Holocaust museum in 

10 Washington, D.C ? 

11 

12 

13 

14 

Yes. 

When did you do that? 

Two -- two or three months ago. 

Okay. Have you been to a Holocaust museum 

15 anywhere else? 

16 A. Well, I don't know. The Yed Yeshim, you call 

17 it a museum? 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. 

A. 

Where 1S that? 

The Yed Yeshim in Israel. 

When were you there? 

Seven -- about seven years ago. 

Any other type of museum? 

Museums, no. 

MS. McKEE: If we could take a break for just 

a few minutes. 

21 years, wouldn't be easy. 

22 Q. Do you know in this lawsuit -that you are 

23 limited to recovering only $lO,OOO? 

24 

25 

1 

2 

,A. Ye~ .. 

Sir, have you visited the Holocaust museum in 
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THE VIDEOGRAPHER: GOing off the video record. 

The time is 10:56 a.m. 

3 (Short break taken) 

4 

5 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the video 

record. The time is 11:03 a.m. 

6 BY MS. McKEE: 

7 

8 that. 

9 

10 

A. 

Q. 

We are back after the break. Thank you for 

Okay. 

I just have a few more questions for you and 

11 we will be done. Mr. Mermelstein, are you aware that 

12 this case has been filed as a class action? 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

A Yes. 

What does that mean to you? 

It means --

MR. DUBBIN: Let me just object to the extent 

it calls for a legal conclusion but you can answer. 

THE WITNESS: I just hope it will come to a 

19 close. 

20 BY MS. McKEE: 

21 What do you know about what a class action 

22 suit is? 

23 Well, when an attorney files a lawsuit for a 

24 group of people. 

25 v .... " 5i;. are representative of the c1.:=ss; '''' j' 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 
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that correct? 

A. I don't know what that means. 

MR. DUBBIN: Again, you are calling for a 

legal conclusion. He's a plaintiff ;n the case. 

We, the lawyers. have pled the case and he's one of 

the named plaintiffs. And we have alleged that he's 

representative of the people who experienced what he 

went through. 

9 BY MS. McKEE: 

10 Q- Sir. how many people do you estimate are in 

11 the class. other survivors like yourself who are making 

12 

-13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

these claims against the United States? 

A. I would say maybe up to about 10,000. 

Q. What is that estimate based on? 

A_ 

Q-

Just from talking to people. 

From talking to other survivors? 

A. From calls that I get. 

Q. You, sir. are a named plaintiff. Your name is 

on the complaint. But then there are also absent class 

members, people whose names are not on the complaint; is 

that right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Is it possible that an absent class member 

could have -- have property of more than $IO.OOO? 

MR. DUBBIN::'-~··"·Object;on. You are calling for 
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1 not sure. 

2 

3 

4 

Q-

A_ 

Q-

So you don't have any position on that? 

No_ 

Are you confident, sir, that there will be 

5 adequate funding to proceed with the lawsuit? 

6 A. Oh, yeah. 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

MS. McKEE: With that, then, I thank you for 

your time. It was a pleasure to meet you. 

THE WITNESS: 

MS. McKEE: 

MR. DUBBIN: 

Same here. 

And we conclude this deposition. 

Okay. Except for 

cross-examination which I will now conduct. Okay. 

So I will be asking questions the same way the 

government did. 

CROSS EXAMINATION 

16 BY MR. DUBBIN: 

17 Q- And same rules apply. If you don't understand 

18 my question, tell me. Make sure you understand the 

19 question before you answer it. Okay? Describe your --

20 who lived in your house back in, you know, the late 

21 '30s, early '40s. 

22 A. My grandparents, my aunt, my parents, five --

23 we were five brothers and a sister. 

24 Q. Okay. In the spring of 1944 tell us what 

25 happened to yo!.!"- fawi ly. 

1 
-- 2 

3 

4 
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speculation by the witness. 

THElNITNESS: Well, everybody would estimate 

. their values at -- to set a price would be very. 

very difficult. 

5 BY MS. McKEE: 

6 Q- Have you spoken with other class members about 

7 thei r property? 

8 

9 

A_ Value-. of the property? 

MR. DUBBIN: Listen to the question carefully. 

10 BY MS. McKEE: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

Q- Have you spoken to other class members about 

their property? 

A. Not particular property, no. 

Q. Have you discussed the value of that property 

15 with any of them? 

16 A. No. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

1 

Q. If there is a money award in this case, sir, 

how do you believe-it"should be alloea.ted -among "the' --_. 

up to 10,000 plaintiffs? 

MR. DUBBIN: Again, I object to what --

calling for a legal conclusion. I mean the way a 

settlement is' structured is"determined 9:y··t~court. 

BY MS. McKEE: 

Q- If you "could. answer. sir. 

A_ Well, I thought the court would-""decide. I am 
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A_ Well, in April, the beginning of April -- was 

2 a couple of days after Passover. The town was 

3 surrounded and we got a notice to pack, that we leave, 

4 and gave us an hour time to pack. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Q- How was that notice delivered? 

A. A guy with a -- the way they made the 

announcement -- in the town, a guy with a drum, and just 

kept repeating as he went through the town. 

Q, Did you consider the possibility of not 

following the order? 

A. Well, no, because they said anybody will be 

miSSing from the family they'll shoot the family. So 

nobody didn't think of --

Q. So tell us what happened after you received 

the notice. What did you do? 

A_ So we packed whatever we could, and they came 

17 from house to house and got us out, sealed the door and 

18 took us to the synagogue until they had the whole town 

19 together. Then they took us to the train and were sent 

20 to the ghetto in Beregszasz. 

21 Q- And when they sealed the door behind you, the 

22 pr6perty.·-you described earlier in your deposition, the 

23 china, the crystal, the linens, the silver, the Shabbot 

24 candlesticks, the kiddish cups and the like, those were 

25 still inside the house. (Ofrect' 
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2 

A. 

Q. 
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Yeah. Yes. 

So after you -- tell us 'wh'at happened when you 

3 arrived in the ghetto. 

4 A. Well, the ghetto, we had high -- barbed wire 

5 fences. Guards were there. Nobody could come ; n, 

6 nobody could go out. And then one morning an 

7 announcement came that anybody that has gold. silver Of 

8 valota -- that's like foreign currency -- to turn it'i.n, 

9 because; f they wi 11 catch anybody wi th it they would 

10 shoot them. So they went around with buckets and 
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1 Q. Okay. How -- after they collected your 

2 jewelry, describe what life was like. Like where did,L 

3 you sleep in the ghetto? 

4 A. Slept on the floor. Just a blanket that we 

5 brought along. They cooked us soup, one soup a -day. and 

6 plus we ate -- rationed whatever we brought along. 

7 

8 

9 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

How long were you ;n the ghetto? 

A month. 

Okay. What -- describe the circumstances 

10 under which you left -- left the ghetto. 

11 everybody took off the -- all the jewelry that they had. 11 A. Well, one -- one morning they just --

12 

13 

14 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

And you witnessed this yourself? 

Yes. yes. 

Did you and your family have to remove your 

15 jewel ry and put it in the bucket? 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

And which family members were with you in the 

18 ghetto at that time? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

All -- all of them. 

And is some of the jewelry that you mentioned, 

21 that you are claiming in this lawsuit, is some of the 

12 announcement to get ready to leave, and they took us to 

13 the station -- to the station. There were those cattle 

14 cars where they filled up the wagon, close to about 100 

15 people in a wagon. They put in two buckets. one bucket 

16 of water and one for facil ities. Not knowing how long 

17 that has to last. So the water was rationed a 

18 tablespoon- at a -time. And you can imagfiie having --

19 from babies, young children, middle age parents, 

20 grandparents: the worst thing was when somebody had to 

21 use the facilities. Didn't know hOw long that was going 

22 jewelr'y t-mt was taken from you in the ghetto among the -22 to last, but it las"ted two days and a night until we got 

23 jewelry that you are seeking compensation for in this 

24 suit? 

'25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

A. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

The whole family. 

So you were in the same car together? 

Yeah. 
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How long was the -- how long d1d it take to 

5 get from the ghetto to AUschwitz? 

6 

7 

A. 

Q. 

Two days and a night. 

Please describe what happened when you arrived 

8 in Auschwitz. 

9 A. We arrived in Auschwitz. The train went right 

10 into the camp from -- the train stopped. The doors 

11 opened. They rushed us off the wagons. They said, 

23 to Auschwi tz. Want me to go on? 

.24 Q. . Who accornpan; ed y-ou on".the t ra,; n _to Au.sc.hwitz 

25 from your camp?'_> 

68 

1 Mr. Mermelstein? 

A. 15 and a half. 2 

3 Q. Did you and your parents talk at all about 

4 what to expect, what to do? 

5 A. No, because we didn't know what to expect. 

6 Nobody knew. 

7 Q. So you arrived, and they separated the men and 

8 the women? 

9 A. Yeah, and started to walk to the front. And 

10 then we were about ten feet before the front. My father 

11 saw that they separating. So he came over and told me 

12 leave everything there, everything will follow you. We 12 to be sure -- I should stay with my brothers. I had two 

13 got off, lined up. men on one side, women and children 

14 on the left. You saw barracks with children, old 

13 older brothers. So when we came to the front and I saw 

14 my whole family goes to the left and the two brothers to 

15 people. A band was playing. Didn't have no idea where 15 the right. So I kind of stopped for a second. And then 

16 we are going or what's gOing to happen. 

17 Q. What -- were you able to communicate with your 

16 I saw the 55 coming with the stick so I just ran to the 

17 right. At that time it meant life or death. So it was 

18 family during this -- during the time you were arriving 18 like somebody up there (indicating) told me, run to the 

19 at Auschwitz? 19 right. 

20 

21 

22 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

What -- what did you all discuss? 

What's going to happen. Nobody knew . .-We were 

20 Q. 

21 left? 

22 A. 

23 under the assumption that they were sending us to a work 23 Q. 

24 camp. That's what the rumors were then. 

Q. Howald were you at this time 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

What happened then, the people who went to the 

They went straight to the gas chambers. 

And that i~(lUded who in your family? 

Yeah. 

Your "'other and your father? 
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1 A. Yeah. Two brothers, a sister. my aunt, 

2 grandparents"J 

3 Q. So you went to the right with your brothers. 

4 What happened after that? 

5 A. After that, one of the trustees came by and 

6 told me to stretch out and pinch yourself and left. I 

7 couldn't ask why. But I ran between my two brothers, 

8 stepped on thei r shoes, stretch~p out to look taller. 

9 Later on I found out why: Because they only send people 

10 that could go to work. And being that he saw I was 

11 young -- so it helped at that time. 

12 Q. So after you stood on your brothers' feet and 
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1 said: "You came here. You saw ,the sign on the gate 

2 where you walked into the camp.-:J!'Arbite Hact Fry."."work 

3 makes you free." He says: "Don't believe it. You came 

4 here to die. You are just waiting your turn." If I 

5 don't 1 ike the way you look at me or if I don't like the 

6 way you standing, I'll kill you and I don't have to 

7 account to nobody." Took out his gun and just shot a 

8 guy there in the side (indicating). 

9 Some people couldn't take it the first day, 

10 the second day. They ran to the fence. All the 

11 fence - - there was more than one fence. It was 1; ke 

12 sections in Auschwitz; one section for work. one section 

13 made yourself appear bigger, what transpi red after that? 13 for -- to be killed, and one section to wait for 

14 A. Then we went to a barrack where they-cut our 14 assignments. People ran over ·to -the fence and killed 

15 hair, told us to undress and walk through a shower. The 15 themselves. That's when my oldest brother took the two 

16 only thi ng we kept our own was the shoes. They gave us 16 of us, and he made us promi se that we would never do 

17 a cap, a shirt and a -- pants. That's the only thing we 17 anything to help the German accomplish what they want 

18 had. 

19 Q. Would you, please, describe what daily life 

20 was 1 i ke at Auschwitz. 

21 A. Well, in Auschwitz I was only a few days until 

22 they need people for a work camp. So we were: sent out. 

23 But when we came to the -- to the barrack that we were 

24 aSSigned to there was the commander. He kind_ of 

18 to. 

19 So when he left, we went in the barrack and we 

20 asked the trustee -- we cannot see our parents or where 

21 did they go. And he called us to the door. He says: 

22 "You see·~at smoke? There are no pa~ents. There are 

23 no brothers. They're all in heaven." Even at that time 

24 you, could£l't believe that woyld be true. But bein,g 

25 welcomed us. And those words I will never forget. He ~ ,,25 there a few days and seeing all the people go in day and 
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1 night, and the smoke was terrible, so we figured out 

2 what was happening. 

3 Q. And that was at Auschwitz before you went to 

4 the work detail? 

5 

6 

A. 

Q. 

7 camp. 

8 A. 

Yeah. Then they sent to us a work camp. 

Okay. Tell us about daily life in the work 

That was also a camp by -- fences, the tower 

9 guards. And in the morning was roll call. every morning 

10 and every night. Before we went out to work, we were 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
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So we took turns of USing the equipment. 

My first job was to use an air hammer, sledge 

hammer. That thing was so heavy I couldn't pick it 

up. But I knew you had to do something. Otherwise, 

you don't live. So when it came my turn, I took the 

air hammer -- and the guardS always walked in the 

back of us, so I always made sure that I -- my back 

is towards him so he couldn't see the front. And I 

11 counted. Coming back from work. we were counted. If we 11 

squeezed the handles. And you know, when you 

squeeze the handles it makes a noise, so -- and I 

was shaken. So I got by like that for about a week. 

That was -- in the morning the menu was a black cup 

of coffee. Lunch. vegetable soup, green leaves, 

stuff like that. At night, a slice of bread and a 

12 made a mistake. they made us stay on our knees until 

13 they recounted. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

THE REPORTER: I didn't understand. They 

made us stay on --

THE WITNESS: On the knees. 

THE REPORTER: Okay. 

THE WITNESS: Until they recounted to make 

sure that everybody was accounted for. Not that 

12 

13 

14 

15 cup of coffee. 

16 BY MR. DUBBIN: 

17 

18 

Q. 

A. 

How long were you in that -- that work camp? 

We got there in end of April of '44 until the 

19 end of the year. When the Russians were approaching 

20 anybody could run away, because we went to work with 20 they were so close that we thought we would be liberated 

21 

22 

1

23 

24 

j 25 

guards. Always. Could never walk away out of line 21 any minute. We were locked in the barracks. Nobody 

or something be'Ca:u:s;.e":"-"- our job was -- we were 22 could open a windOW. look out, but the silQptjng was 

building a rail -- a small railroad, those small 23 going on. and we knew it was the Russ;a~s. We could 

trains, by a mountain, because they figured 24 tell the planes. You could hear them fUrther than you 

Americans wouldn't suspect a railroad by a mouiitain. 25 could see them. The American, the 8:::::.,s:: planes used 
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1 to come fly quietly in different ways. But shooting 

2 5 topped. and they found one way out. So that' 5 when we 

.3 started on the Death March. 

4 

5 

6· 

Q . 

A. 

Q. 

About what month was that, Hr. Mermelstein? 

The end of September, October. 

Okay. You said we started the Death March. 

7 Would you'explain what you mean by that. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

A. 'lC,':..Well, we started to walk day and night. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Was this under -- were you under Nazi -­

Oh, yeah. 

-- domination at the --

Yeah. 

Q. ,Who told you there was going -- who took you 

14 out of the work camp on the march? 

15 

16 

17 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

The Germans. 

And where did they tell you you were going? 

Didn't -- they never said nothing to you. 

18 Just, ready? We going to go. Didn't know where or 

19 when. Walk day and night. People -- from other camps 

20 we met, people were dying. They couldn't walk, they 

21 shot them. At that time I got separated from my oldest 

22 brother, and I was with one brother until we -got- to a 

23 big farm. There they got some green stuff, cooked it. 

24 We ate. Then they put us on a train. No -- no top. 
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1 Washington (indicating). Cold. Was no top. It was 

2 raining';'~$nOwing. We wereO:sitting in one position. 

3 There was no room to lay down Of stretch out. And all 

4 we had is what I told you. that one shi rt and pants. was 

5 wet, cold. Until we got to a camp called Mathausen. 

6 Stayed there all day in the trucks, and then they send 

7 us to another camp called Ebnsee. E-8-N-$-E-E. And 

8 there Has -- that camp was -built right after the 

9 Anschluss, when Germany united with Austria. It was 

10 called ve:rrichtung lager vor die L iefeschocher becher. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

MR. DUBBIN: We'll give you the spelling 

later. 

THE WITNESS: A death camp for political 

gangsters. There we worked -in the tunnelS. My job 

was to hook up those little wagons when they were 

filled up, brought out. And in the tunnels there 

were different clays. And somebody said that it's 

good, that they make margarin-e out of that. So we 

started to eat the clay. I don't even want to tell 

you what happened after. When they ate that clay 

people were dying. And one time I told the guy 

showed him t6 'stop. The trafn, he didn't. -And 

smashed my hand. And if you couldn't work you had 

to go_.to_ -- -step out_ in the morning and go to the 

25 And in Europe in October is alr~~~y' cold. Not even like 25 hospital . But before that, the food I told you wlfat 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

• 75 

it was, but working on the train, I was able to 

steal some coal, the black coal, and we were eating 

that. And eating that black coal, not brushing your 

teeth, my gums -- I had more gum operations here in 

Miami than I could count. lost all my teeth on 

top. 

And I went to the hospital. The hospital was 

a barrack with three rooms. They had bunk beds, 

four people in a bed and two under the bed. When 
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1 already at the second door -- second room by the door 

2 ready to go in the thi rd room. So it would have been a 

3 matter of days. But we were lucky. One morning we woke 

4 up and there were no guards. So those that could walk 

5 ran out, and they came back and hollered: "There are no 

6 Germans. The gates are open." 

7 So me and three of my friends, they were a 

8 year older, we rolled out, we pulled ourselves on the 

9 hand and knees to get outside. Then I saw the tanks 

10 you first came in you went under the bed. And under 10 coming in. They were something. That was the first 

11 

12 

13 

the bed you couldn't turn over. You had to pull 

yourself out, turn over and slide back in until 

somebody died. Then we took the person out, then 

14 went in there. 

15 BY MR. DUBBIN: 

16 

17 

Q. 

A. 

Which camp is this? 

Ebensee. And there they hardly fed us at all. 

11 time I saw black face sticking out of the tank. We 

12 didn't know what it was but we saw the teeth. 

13 

14 

~5 

16 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

And who was it? 

American soldiers. 

You were liberated by American soldiers? 

By the American Army, yes, the Third Army. 

17 And then a soldier came by and tried to pick me up, and 

18 So the people from the third room, when they died, there 18 he couldn't because everything was just hanging. So he 

19 was a double window. They just threw them out. You 19 called another guy. And even the two of them were 

20 could see stacks up high. The crematorium couldn't burn 20 afraid. So they went and got a board and took me to a 

21 them fast enough. So as the people came in the first 

2<2'ei-:',"-:r-Oofn, the rest of us were moved down. And if they 

23 fieeded room, the one -- the very last Oi1eS, they just 

24 threw them out alive. And we knew they were alive 

I 25 o~cause we heard them moanlng and moanlng ! was 

21 field hospital that they had, showered, and they fed us 

22 every hour on th"lf"'Ilou'-r 'f'or about six weeks. Then the 

1

23 

24 

I 25 

American Army took us to Czechoslovakia. And from 

there -- we slept over there. The next day we went to 

Prague, to the capital. 
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3 
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Q. So let me_get this straight. You were -- upon 

1 iberation you were 1 iberated by the American Army'? 

A. Oh. yeah. 

Q. And you were cared for in an American 

5 hospital? 

6 

7 

A. 

Q. 

8 American? 

9 A. 

Yes. 

Okay. And how do you know that they were 

Qh, well, we saw the -~ the white star on the 

10 tank. And we couldn't speak. They couldn't speak to 

11 us. But later on they had chaplai ns that came and we 

12 were able to speak to them. 

13 Q. And it was approximately how many weeks that 

14 you were under the care of the American medical care? 

15 A. Six weeks there, until I was able to walk a 
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1 A. We didn't know what day it was but they told 

2 us tnen. Because never saw a calendar, never saw 

1·- 3 papers, so we didn't know -- especially in the hospital, 

4 we didn't know day or night. 

5 Q. And just to make it clear, during the time you 

6 were in the ghetto after you turned your property over 

7 and the 'time you were on your way to Auschwitz, in 

8 Auschw'Hz in the work camps and in the other camps, did 

9 anybody' tell you what the Hungarians had done with your 

10 property? 

No. 11 

12 

A. 

Q. Was there any talk of a gold train when you 

IJ were in "the camp? 

14 A. No. At that time it was not mine, no. At 

15 that time the only thing on our mind was to go home and 

16 little. So I was anxious to -- to go. 50 in Prague, me 16 see if somebody came back. 

17 and two other guys., we used to meet people. t~e 

18 stations, whatever. The first thing we asked: "What 

19 camps were you in? Anybody from" -- like I would say 

20 Miami. And this is how we found out which survivors 

21 survived. 

22 Q. The date that the American army came into the 

23 camp to bring you out. do you remember that date? 

24 

25 

A. 

Q. 

May the 5th. 

1,~.t,$7 
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1 Czech people didn't let us go. They took away our 

2 clothes, kept us there for a week. They wanted to make 

3 sure that we get a little stronger. 

4 Q. And about what month was that when you were in 

5 Prague? 

6 A. In June -- May, June, end of June, July. Then 

7 we wen t back home. 

8 

9 

10 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

And that's when you went back to your house? 

Yeah. 

And as you testified before, what did you find 

11 when you went back to your house? 

12 

13 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Nothing. 

And do you have any --

Not even -- not even a picture. 

Do you have any way of knowing how the 

16 Hungari ans handled your property? Do you know whether 

17 the Hungarians put your property in a box with your 

18 fami ly' s name on it after you were sent to the ghetto? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

No. No. 

You don't know whether they put it in a box 

21 with--

22 

23 

24 

25 

A. No. 

Q. 

not, do you? 

A. N;:;. 

a list with your family's name on it or 

17 Q. So during your tim,e. in camp there was no talk 

18 about property? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

No. To get healthy and go home. 

And then after -- after you convalesced under 

21 the care of the Americans your first priority was to see 

22 whO survived, right? 

23 A. Yes. But in Prague the three of us collapsed, 

24 and -they took us into" a bui-lding and kept us there -

25 overnight. In the morning we .!t..~~red to go, but the 
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1 Q. Before, when you made an estimate that there 

2 would be 10,000 members of the class, were you referring 

3 to the number who live in the United States? 

4 

5 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

You weren't necessarily making an estimate as 

6 to the numbers that live ,in Hungary, Israel or anywhere? 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

A. No, I couldn't, I couldn't, no. 

MR. DUBBIN: Could we take a break here for a 

second. 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the video record 

the time is 11:34 a.m. 

12 (Short break taken) 

13 

14 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the video 

record. The time is 11:40 a.m. 

15 BY MR. DUBBIN: 

16 Q. Okay. You went home. Someone else lived in 

17 the apartment and your family's property was gone. And 

18 tell me. Then you went -- how was it that you made it 

19 to the DP camp from there? 

20 A. I was home, and we were restless. People were 

21 talking because we didn't see the Czech government. And 

';'-2"2' "1;'nat state was called the Carpathian Mountains. Until 

23 

24 

one morning we wake up, an announcement comes out. 

part of Russia. Nobody could leave town without a 

~erffia. You can't sell the hOUSE. :;:-;:'5 not yours. 
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1 go to the next town you hav.e to get a pernfit. The MKVD 1 saw two young ladies working there. Somebody asked me 

2 was marching down. the teachers right behind them. They 2 how I met my wife? I don't know. Was it you? 

3 came with everything. In one hour, -everything was taken 

4 over, the money was being changed. No matter how much 

5 money you had. you got 200 rubles, something like $200. 

6 And I wanted to go to the next town so that - - a perm; t 

7 just for a day, because the next town was a bigger town 

8 and they had a publ ic kitchen supported by the~~United 

9 Jewish Federations. And we used to get together there 

10 and find out who came home, what camps they were in, if 

11 they knew somebody from my town. That's the way, 

12 actually. we found out who survived, who didn't. going 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

MS. McKEE: Yes. 

THE WITNESS: Two young ladies. But at that 

time was 15 -- I was 16 and a half and she was a 

little younger. We didn't even talk. So then 

remembered that slip to do -- to cross. So 

figured, will show them that am a Czech citizen, 

they let me cross the border. 

Came there. The Russian officer looked at the 

13 from one station to the next. from one city to the next, 13 

paper. tore it up and just threw it away. And there 

was nobody to talk to. You couldn't go no place, 

and that was it. So I figured. I will wait until at 

night until it's dark, and I will go way out of town 

and will cross the border. But was arrested by 

the Russian border police, the dogs started to bark, 

and charge~ ~;!h treason, trying to leave the 

country, taking Russian money. - And in the morning 

they took me to the headquarters. It was the rus-­

one Russian officer sitting there. Five gOld stars. 

I counted them many times. And after the guy read 

out the charges he'askedJne w~ I had to say. 

14 always talked only about one thing. actually: What 

15 camps, anybody from there. And I got the 200 rubles. 

14 

15 

16 So I was -- for a few minutes I was thinking wh_at to do. 16 

17 I saw a clerk in the next office. I went in there. 17 

18 told them to make me a permit. I want to go to the next 18 

19 town. He couldn't. he said. So I took out SO rubles 

20 and I put that on the table for him. He looked around. 

19 

20 

21 didn't see nobody. Made it. So I put in my pocket, and 21 

22 I took another SO. said, now make me that I am a 

23 Czech citizen because you know where I was born, you 

24 know I was (indicating) -- so he made me one. But 

22 

23 

24 

2S remember. when I went to the next town to the kitchen, I 25 

Well, naturally. I denied everything. I wasn't 

going .. to cross the.border. I _love i-t here. He 

says.:,;,:'''What are you doing here at the station?" I 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 
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sa; d : "I came home f rom the camps and I am look i ng 

for family. 

So he looked at me up and down. Then, with 

his finger. he waved three times to go straight 

home. "Don't let me ever see you here again because 

you know what will happen." 

So I went back home. My friend -- my 

brother's friends, one couple got married, and one 

got engaged, and they were planning to leave. too. 

So I says: "I'm going, too." 

So we got together and we figured we'll go to 

the capital of the Carpathian and find somebody 

there, see if we could buy or do anything, 

something. 

15 BY MR. DUBBIN: 

16 Q. Okay. Let's -- he's going to have to change 

17 the tape in about a minute so why don't -- you want to 

18 change it now? 

19 

20 

21 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This will be the end of 

videotape number one. The time is 11:45 a.m. 

are going off the video record. 

22 (Discussion off the record) 

1

23 

24 

i 25 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the video 

record. This is videotape number two. Time is 

11:47 a.m. 

We 
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1 BY MR. DUBBIN: 

2 Q. You were explaining how you were going to try 

3 to go with a married couple to get out of your hometown. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yeah. 

Okay. 

So the five of us went to the capital. 

Who were the five? 

Me and friends of my brother's. And we got 

9 there, all day. We met some people but nobody know how 

10 to help us try to get across. And this I remember like 

11 today. It was 4:30 in the afternoon. It was getting 

12 dark. Here we are in a strange city, nowhere to sleep 

13 and watching the MKVD, the secret police. Until a man 

14 started to follow us. And we were boarding, so we 

15 started to walk away. and he came running over, and he 

16 recognized me. He was one of the guys sleeping under 

17 the bed and I helped him when a guy next to me died. So 

18 we took him out and I helped him come in. 

19 So he took us home. He had two rooms. He 

20 gave us one room. And we told him Why we there. So he 

21 went out to try and find out -- see what he could find 

22 out from the people that he knew. He came back. He '".;- c 

23 

24 

25 

says: "Nothing could be done. Nobody knows of anything 

except there is -- by the border there is a Jewish 

baker, one ~an tnere. And he should be able to help I 
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1 us." , .... 

2 So we went there. We found the bakery, and we 

3 told him what we want to do. He begged us not to go. 

4 He s~ys: "look across the street. There are three 

5 wagons there." And there was a mountain. He says: 

6 "Anybody caught is being locked up ;n the wagon. When 

7 it's full they ship it to Siberia." Or if you walk up 

8 the mountains, we don't';kI)OH where the soldiers are and 

9 they could shoot or capture us. 

10 So we had three chances: Get shot. get caught 

11 and Siberia. or make it. Well, you could see which 

12 decision we took. But the guy didn't want no Russian 

13 money. He didn't want no. Czech money. He wanted only 

14 dollars. Dollars. in Europe. even before the war, was 
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1 A thousand kronen, Czech ~one. Between the five of us 

2 we only had 25. ~. 

3 So we started to walk, 6:00 in the morning, 

4 and we got the re 5: 00 0' clock in the afternoon. On the 

5 way we were stopped by the police. They thought we were 

6 black marketeers, until I showed them my shoes, what --

7 when we crossed down from the mountain there was a 

8 little water, and my sole got caught. tore ott. So I 

9 tied it up with a string. So he saw that and they let 

10 us go. We came to a City, Sobrance. And we sold some 

11 cigarettes that we brought along. We knew cigarettes 

12 were scarce in Slovakia. So we got enough money to go 

13 to the next city, because it was illegal to help us 

14 refugees from the Soviet Union. So we wanted to go away 

15 tough. But after the war -- but to our luck, the couple 15 as far as possible. 

16 that was married, where she came home -- before they 

17 took them away the father showed him that he bur1ed a 

18 can with a couple of things in there. And in that can 

19 was $5. And that $S took the five of us across. 

20 So we got to a small town in Slovakia, knocked 

21 on the door, the farmer let us in. We slept there. In 

-~ the morning we wanted to go to the capital of:Slovakia. 

23 He says: "You're too far from that." The next city 

2-4 was -- I think was 20 miles. No bus, no traio, only. a 

25 horse and buggy goes that way. And hOw much was th-at? 
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1 guys to buy us tickets far -- to the furthest city in 

2 Slovakia and told the guy to get a horse and buggy and 

3 take us. Don't let us off until the train is actually 

4 there. 

5 So we left there and we went to the capital of 

6 Slovakia. There we were already safe. Then in the 

7 morning my friends and we went to the flea market. They 

8 had some stuff to sell. 1 had four cigarettes to my 

9 name. And I needed a pai r of shoes. So went to the 

10 flea market and 1 saw a guy with a pair of shoes. How 

11 much? He said -- so many kronens. 1 said: "I don't 

16 So we went to the next city. and there we 

17 asked for a Jewish community. It's a big city. So one 

18 guy says: "Follow me." But he-- didn't wanL-to talk-to 

19 us. He was afraid even dare to talk to us. So we came 

20 there. and it was ali ttle communi ty center. And the 

21 people were praying already, and we went in there. We 

22 knew if we want to eat we have to go pray fir'st. So 

23 there a man recognized me. too, from the hospital. And 

24 after the ser,v;ce .l1e __ ask~C!, ):,hat a.-,=.~ we d9J~g her,e. _ So 

25 we told him. So he got us some food. and he sent two 
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1 coming in, I went under the bench. And Rosner was 

2 hiding me. But they didn't tell me the pipes are hOt. 

3 50 when the conductor left I came out, and we were going 

4 back and forth. When the train stopped, we watched the 

5 conductor. If he was on this side we were walking the 

6 other way. The two girlS were sitting there. They 

7 asked them for tickets. They said we have it. Until we 

8 got to Prague. And we come out, and we see the Russian 

9 MKVD and the Czech pol ice at the station checking 

10 everybody. And they asked them for tickets. We don't 

11 have no tickets. So we ran back, had a little 

12 have no money but I have cigarettes." He said: "12?" I 12 conference. What do we do? So we decided each one of 

13 said: "No. 1 saw a pair there for four. So 1 13 us should go ina separate line, and when they say 

14 guess" -- he said: "No, no." So 1 started to walk away 14 tickets, he has it (indicating). So we went through. 

15 but he called me back. Didn't look at the size, didn't 

16 look at the color. Just got them. We went back to the 

15 Then we were going to -- they had some family. and I met 

16 somebody at the train. They said my uncle is 1n a City 

17 room. They had enough money to go halfway to Prague. I 17 not far from there. So I went there. And he told me I 

18 didn't have a penny. We go to the train. and I met some 18 have to go back to Prague to apply for citizenship 

19 people there. One of them happens to be Rosner. He is 

20 on the (indicating) -- and I remember 1 asked him if he 

21 is taking an express or a local. He says: "What 

19 again. 

20 So I went there, filled out the papers, and 

21 the guy tells me I couldn't sign. 1 need a father. I 

22 difference cfo'es it 'make to you? You don't have no money 22 said: "I have no father." He says: "You must have a 

23 anyway." I said: "Well, if they catch me with an mother." "Dcn't have a mother." He didn't tell me why 

24 express 1 will be so much closer." Anyway, we all got that I couldn't Sign. I wasn't 18. So I just walked 

25 on the train. They set ojn ... n When I saw the conductor i 2S away .. 1tl1 the papers. That's the only thing I had. So 
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1 when I came to that city, 12:00 o'clock at night -- so I 1 ._ A. Urn. 

2 qaid it on the bench and I slept. In the morning I woke 2 Q. Were you basically confined to living in the 

3 up and a detective was right up -- standing there and 

4 waiting for me. Because I was blond, had long blond 

5 hair by then, blue eyes, looked just like a German. 

6 So I showed him the papers and he said it was 

7 fin-e. So I started to walk. I figured I'm going to 

8 "book for a -- for two signs to find somebody, somebody 

3 camp? 

4 

5 

A. 

Q. 

6 outside? 

7 A. 

Yes. 

I mean you didn't have the ability to travel 

Yeah. We could travel outside, but the camp 

8 was -- we had DP pOlilGe even, displaced persons police. 

9 looks Jewish or a store with a name. Walking for a half 9 The camp was, in a way, controlled by us. Except when 

10 an hour, and I met a cousin of mine on the street, 7:30 10 the military police came sometime for something or 

11 in the morning. So he took me home. And at night I 11 other. But we were seven in a room, seven people in a 

12 found my uncle, stayed there a week and started to talk. 12 room, and we had a meal ticket to get food. 

13 Rus-sia was asking for the people back. So I saw I 

14 didn't want no part of that. So I heard people are 

13 

14 

And you worked? Did you work -­

No. 

15 going to Germany. So they organized groups, and we went 15 

Q. 

A. 

Q. -- in the camp? 

No. 16 to the Czech border to cross into Germany to be under 

17 the American zone agai~. So we did. And that's how I 

18 got to a displaced person camp. And from there to the-

19 children's group, finally from Bremerhaven took a 

20 liberty ship, Marine Fletcher. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

Q. You are talking about your passage to the 

United States now? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Just one last question about the DP ~amp. In 

25 the camp, you lived there foYover two years, right? 
..... 
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1 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

2 BY MS. McKEE: 

3 Q. Mr. Mermelstein, I have just one or two 

4 questions. I just want to understand. Returning again 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Okay. And did you ever leave the camp? 

Yes, but -­

For what? 

Just to -- you heard somebody from my town is 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

.. ~ 
in the other city, so I went to find out what or -- you 

know. That's the only way we got news from one person 

23 to the next. There were no newspapers, no CNN, again. 

.24 .-

25 

1 

2 

you . 

A. 

Q. 

3 ghetto? 

4 A. 

MR. DUBBIN: Okay. T-h-at's my . ..cross-. T.hank 
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Yeah. 

And some jewelry was taken from the -- in the 

Yes. 

5 to when the property was taken from your house, based on 5 Q. Do you remember which pieces were taken? 

Well, they took all the rings, the necklace 6 what you have said today, I think it's true that some 6 A. 

7 property were taken by the gendarme, same was left in 7 (indicating). 

8 the seal -- in the house that was sealed, and some was 8 

9 taken -- some of the jewelry was taken from you and your 9 

MR. DUBBIN: You mean in the ghetto? Maybe we 

Should rephrase the question. 

10 fami ly in the ghetto: is that correct? 

11 

12 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Was there any other time that property was 

13 taken from you? 

14 

15 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

Was any of the jewelry -- was all of the 

16 jewelry taken in the ghetto? 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

A. Yeah, all that --

MR. DUBBIN: Let me -- would you mind 

rephrasing? 

MS. McKEE: I can do that. Yeah. I 

unde rs tand. 

22 BY HS. McKEE: 

23 

24 

25 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Was any jewelry taken from the house? 

Yeah. 

By the gendarme? 

10 

11 

MS. McKEE: Will you give me a moment? 

HR. DUBBIN: I am sorry. 

12 BY MS. McKEE: 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Which pieces were taken from the house? 

That was in that closet with the dowery. 

Do you remember which pieces were there? 

No. 

Do you remember which pieces were taken in the 

18 ghetto? 

19 A. Yeah. But I saw them take off from the neck 

20 and fingers. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q. The necklace and the rings? 

A. Yea'h. 

MS. McKEE: I have no further questions. 

MR. DUBBIN: Okay. Thank you very much for 

all your time. 
I 
j 
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MS. McKEE: Thank you very much. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. Let me just tell you off 

record. You asked me hOw I met my wife? 

MS. McKEE: Yes. 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Did you say off the record? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Please wait a'second then. 

1 

2, 

3 

4 

5 

6 
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EXCEPT FOR THE CORRECTIONS 
MADE HEREIN BY ME, I 
CERTIFY THIS IS A TRUE AND 
ACCURATE TRANSCRIPT. 
FURTHER DEPONENT SAYETH 
NOT. 

DEPONENT 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

This concludes the videotape deposition of David 

Mermelstein consisting of two videotapes. The 

original tapes of taday's testimony will remain in 

the custody of the United States Department of 

Justice. Time is 12:02 p.m. We are going off the 
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please find enclosed the transcript of said deposition. 
Please arrange to have the witness read your copy of the 
transcript, denoting any corrections by page and line 
number on the enclosed errata sheet. This errata sheet 
must be signed by the witness and the original forwarded 
to Ms. McKee. 

If this has not been taken care of, however, in 30 days 
or by the time of trial, whichever comes first. I shall 
then conclude that the reading. sbuscribing and notice 
of filing have been waived. 

Yours very truly, 

lois E. Guffey "Lolane" 



97 
1 ERRATA SHEET 

2 DO NOT WRITE ON TRANSCRIPT - ENTER CHANGES HERE 
IN RE: 

3 
Page No. Line No. Change Reason 

4 

5 

6 
, 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 •. 
17 

18 

19 
Under 

20 penaltles of perjury, I declare that I have read my 
depositlon and that~t 1S true and correct subject to 

21 any changes 1n -form or substance entered here. 
Signature: 

22 Date Name: (Printed) 
23 
24 
25 



60:21,95:20 45:12 become - 8:13, 1 

$ 20 - 2:13, 85:24 actual - 53:12 army - 14:2, 43:3, 23:14 
200 - 81:5,81:15 addition - 41:3 46:1,77:22 bed -75:9,75:10, 

$10,000 - 58:23, 20002 - 2:10 addresses - 40:18 Army - 15:2, 34:4, 75:11,84:17 
61:24 2003 - 94:10 adequate - 63:5 40:19,41:17,42:18, beds -75:8 

$200 - 81:5 2004-1:13,3:12, advertising - 46:8 42:24, 44:5, 45:3, beer-ll:7 
95:6, 95:21, 96:4 advisory - 22:2 45:14,45:23,46:12, begged - 85:3 

• 20530 - 2:14 afraid - 76:20,86:19 47:25,48:2,48:4, begin -4:9 
kk~ 21 - 21:2 afternoon - 84:11, 48:9, 48:23, 49:6, beginning -c64:1 

'305 - 63:21 22 -1:13, 96:4 86:4 76:16,76:23,77:2 behalf -1:19,2:6, 
'405 - 34:8, 63:21 220 - 1:12, 2:5, 3:11, age - 55:17,57:17, arrange - 96:14 2:11,2:15 
'44 - 72:18 96:7 66:19 arresled - 82:15 behind - 84:21, 81:2 
'45 - 14:18 22nd - 3:12,95:6, Agency - 43:8, arrived - 13:8. belong - 26:19,27:2 
'48 - 18:16 95:21 43:17 16:14,16:17,18:21, belonged - 26:21 
'49 -19:5,19:8 25 -86:2 agency - 43:9, 20:22, 25:25, 65:3, belongings - 27:6, 
'50 - 25:4 43:11 67:7,67:9,68:7 27:14,28:5,28:6, 
'50s - 23:15, 26:1 3 ago -10:5, 21:13, arriving - 67:18 28:11 
'54 - 8:15,8:17 21:15,22:8,24:5, art - 37:25, 38:2, bench - 88:1, 89:2 
'60s - 25:5, 26:1 3 - 2:18 24:9, 59:6, 59:13, 38:4,38:7,40:3, Beregszasz - 11 :25, 
'705 - 25:5, 38:24, 30 - 96:17 59:21 54:22 54:20 

40:1 300 - 2:9 agree - 5:10 assigned - 69:24 best-8:18,52:11, 
'80s - 38:24, 39:9, 305)374-8868 - 96:3 air - 72:2, 72:6 assignments - 52:12,52:15 

40:2,40:10,40:14, 317 - 2:9 al-1:6, 3:6, 96:10 70:14 better - 9:7 
41:8 33131 - 96:2 A1hambra-1:12, assisted - 95:17 between -13:12, 

33134 - 2:5, 96:8 2:5, 3:11, 96:7 Associates- 3:14, 24:18,39:6,42:11, 

0 3rd - 20:19 alive - 75:24 ·96:1 49:14,49:16, 69:7 
allegations - 51:10 assume - 6:8 Between - 86: 1 

01-1859 -1:4 4 alleged - 61:6 assumed - 31:16 big - 73:23, 86: 17 
01-1859-civ - 3:8 alleges - 27:17 assumption - 67:23 bigger-69:13,81:7 

400 - 3:11 allocated - 62: 18 ale - 66:6, 73:24, birth - 7:20 

1 444- 96:2 allowed - 46:5 74:20 bil - 5:3 
4:30 - 84:11 America-1:9,3:7 attic-31:20, 31:21 black - 72:12,75:2, 

1-- 95:16 _. American-14:2, Attorney - 3:4- 75:3, 76:11, 86:6 
10,000 - 61 :13, 5 16:22,17:16,24:22, attorney - <t.1-3, . ~ blankel - 66:4 

62:19,80:2 72:25,76:14,76:15, 60:23, 95: 19, 95:20 blond - 89:4 
100 - 66:14 5 - 16:16, 85:19 76:16, 76:23, 77:2, auction - 37:23, blue - 89:5 
10:24 - 47:16 50 - 21:16, 25:23, 77:4,77:8,77:14, 38:1, 38:10, 46:25, board - 22:1, 22:2, 
10:34 - 47:19 26:22,81:19,81:22 77:22,89:17 . 47:10 76:20 
10:56 - 60:2 53 - 7:14,21:17, Americans- 15:7, auctioned - 43:2, boarding - 84:14 
11:03 - 60:5 26:22, 26:23· ..... 15:24, 71 :25, 78:21 44:14 book - 47:10 
11:34 - 80:11 5:00 - 86:4 Amlach-13:21 aunl-l0:21,16:18, bookkeeper - 17:19 
11:40 - 80:14 5Ih-13:11,77:24 announcement - 16:19, 16:22, 16:25, books - 56:17, 
11:45 - 83:20 84:7,65:7,66:12, 17:4, 18:24,54:14, 56:18,56:19,56:21 
11 :47 - 83:25 6 80:23 63:22,69:1 border - 82:9, 
12 - 87:12 Anschluss- 74:9 aunl's - 17:10 82:15,82:16,82:24, 
12-21-28 - 7:21 63 - 2:18 answer - 5:16, 5:19, Auschwitz-12:10, 84:24,89:16 
12:00 - 89:1 66 - 7:2 6:8, 9:5, 9:6, 9:8, 66:23, 66:24, 67:5, born - 7:22, 8:3, 
12:02 - 93:12,93:15 6:00 - 86:3 30:2, 30:9, 41 :20, 67:8,67:9,67:19, 10:11,10:18,81:23 
141h - 18:20 46:4,46:5,48:15, 69:20,69:21,70:12, boughl - 21:5 
15 - 68:2,82:5 7 49:11,49:23,50:4, 71:3,78:7,78:8 box - 40:17,79:17, 
16 - 12:17, 82:5 51:13,60:17,62:24, Australia- 9:15 79:20 
18 - 88:24 7:30 - 89:10 63:19 Austria- 38:16, branch - 22: 17, 
19 -18:19,36:19 answered - 40:24, 38:20,39:10,40:5, 22:22 
193 -16:21 9 41:1,41:19 47:25,74:9 bread - 72:14 
1939 - 27:19 answers - 6: 19, authorized - 95:14 break - 5:24, 6:6, 
1944 - 63:24 91 - 2:18 6:20 Ave- 2:9, 2:13 47:12,47:14,47:17, 
1945 -13:9,13:11, 9121 -7:2 antique - 56:23 Avenue - 96:2 47:21, 59:24, 60:3, 

77:25 96 - 95:16 anxious - 20:13, award - 62:17 60:7,80:8,80:12 
1947 - 14:18, 15:14, 9:25 -1:14,3:16 77:16 aware - 42:6, 47:24, breaks - 6:1 

18:19,18:20 anyway - 87:23 60:11 Bremerhaven -
1948 -18:17 A Anyway- 87:24 awhile - 13:16, 89:19 
1949 - 19:4, 19:6 apartment - 80: 17 18:13,20:3 Brickell - 96:2 
1950 - 20:19,24:18 ability- 90:5 appear - 69:13 brief - 9:23 
1950's - 24:1,36:3 able -48:9,67:17, appearances - 3:19 8 bring - 77:23 
19505 - 24:25, 36:22 75:1,77:12,77:15, Appearances- 2:1 Brilish - 72:25 
1953 - 26:23 84:25 appeared - 95:5 babies - 66:19 Brooklyn - 9: 17, 
1954 - 8:16, 8:20 above-captioned - Appearing - 2:6, baker - 84:25 9:19,16:21,18:24, 
1960's - 36:25 96:13 2:11,2:15 bakery - 85:2 19:25 
1970 - 21:12 absenl-61:19, apply - 63:17, 88:18 band - 67:15 brolher-70:15, 
19705 - 37:4,39:8, 61:23 appoinled - 37:20 barbed - 65:4 73:22 

39:18,40:9,40:14, Absolutely- 47:13 approaching - bark - 82:16 brolhe~s - 83:8, 
41:7 accommodate - 38:19,72:19 barrack - 69:14, 84:8 

19805 - 37:6 5:25 appropriately - 69:23, 70:19, 75:8 brolhers - 10:24, 
19905 - 36:3,37:8, accompanied - 48:10 barracks - 67:14, 63:23,68:12,68:13, 

37:10 66:24 April-18:19,84:1, 72:21 68:14,69:1,69:3, 
1999 - 37:12, 37:19, accomplish - 70: 17 72:18 based - 61 :14, 91:5 69:7,70:23 

41:21,50:17,51:4, account - 70:7 Arbite- 70:2 became -13:1, brolhers' - 69:12 
51:16 accounted -71:19 argumentative - 21:24,23:12,27:18, broughl - 19:11, 

Accurate- 94:3 45:10 28:3 19:13,52:5,66:5, 
,ecce ' .. action - 60:12 Araumentative- becher - 74:10 66:6 74:16 86:11 

FERNk~EZ & ASSOCIATES (305) 374-8868 



Broward - 94:8, certain - 30:19 clothing -17:25, 41:10,41:11 date - 7:20, 77:22, 2 
95:3,95:7,95:13, Certificate- 95:1, 18:11 cooked - 66:5, 77:23 
95:20 95:11 cloths - 29: 1 73:23 Date- 97:22 

brushing - 75:3 Certified - 95:23 Cnn-15:1,90:23 copy - 96:14 Dated - 95:20 
bucket - 65:15, Certify- 94:2, 95:18 coal- 75:2, 75:3 Coral- 1:13, 2:5, dates -18:18 

66:15 certify - 95:4, 95:14 Coalition- 21:25, 3:12,96:8 David-l:17,2:10, 
buckets - 65:10, chambers - 68:22 23:6,23:7 correct - 5:21, 8:4, 2:18,3:3,3:21,4:7, 

66:15 chances - 85:10 coals - 57:3 11:19,37:9,50:23, 6:24, 9:4, 93:8, 95:5, 
Budafest - 39:2, chandeliers - 29: 1 coffee - 72:13, 54:22,54:25,JJ,1:1, 95:15,96:13 

43:10, 3:16 Change- 97:3 72:15 64:25, 91 :10,97:20 days - 64:2, 66:22, 
buggy - 85:25, 87:2 change - 83: 16, cold - 73:25,74:5 Corrections- 94:1 67:6, 69:21, 70:25, 
building -15:24, 83:18 Cold- 74:1 corrections - 96:15 76:3,96:17 

71:23,78:24 changed - 81:4 collapsed - 78:23 counsel- 3:18, Dc- 2:10, 2:14, 
built - 74:8 Changes- 97:2 collected - 46:17, 95: 19, 95:20 59:10 
bunch - 55: 16 changes - 97:21 66:1 count - 75:5 Dear- 96:12 
bunk-75:8 chaplains -77:11 color- 87:16 counted-71:11, Death - 73:3, 73:6 
buried - 85:17 chapter - 22:14, colored - 52:19 82:21 death - 68:17,74:13 
burn - 75:20 23:5,23:17,23:18, colors - 53:6 country - 8:9; decade - 25:5, 
bus - 85:24 24:15 comforters - 56:11 13:22, 82:18 38:23, 39:22, 
business - 4:24, charge -14:2, 16:3 coming - 24:24, County- 94:8,95:3, December- 20:19 

11:1,11:2,21:4,28:7, charged - 82:17 24:25,30:6,68:16, 95:6,95:13,95:20 decide - 62:25 
28:17,28:18 charges - 82:22 76:10,88:1 couple - 64:2, 83:8, decided - 88:12 

buy - 83:13,87:1 checking - 88:9 Coming-71:11 84:3,85:15,85:18 deCision - 85: 12 
children - 7:7, 7:8, commander - 69:24 court - 3:13, 3:17, declare - 97:20 

C 57:17,66:19,67:13, Commercebank - 4:15,4:18,48:17, Defendant-l:19 
67:14 2!<\,96:7 62:22, 62:25, Defendants,~_1:10, " 

cabinet - 28:25, children's - 89:19 commission - Court - 1:1, 3:8 2:15 
52:17,57:11 china - 52:14, 37:14,37:20,41:24, cousin - 9:9, 9:14, delivered - 64:5 

calendar - 78:2 52:21, 52:22, 52:25, 42:7,50:12 18:13,89:10 denied - 82:23 
camp - 13:2, 13:8, 53:3, 53:5, 64:23 commissioner - cousins - 9:18 denoting - 96: 15 

13:18,13:23,14:3, choice - 16:6 41:22 covers - 56:9 Department- 2:13, 
14:12,14:17,14:19, choose - 30:18 communicate - crematorium - 3:5,4:13,93:11 
15:10,15:12,15:13, cigarettes - 86:11, 67:17 75:20 Deponent- 94:3, 
19:21,20:3,33:22, 87:8,87:12 community - 21:17, crocheted - 56:7 94:6 
33:25, 34:3, 66:25, Circle- 1:12, 2:5, 21:21,86:17,86:20 cross - 63:12,82:7, deposed - 4:21 
67:10,67:24,69:22, 3:11,96:7 compensation - 82:9,82:15,82:24, Deposition-1:17, 
70:2, 71 :5, 71 :7, 71 :8, circumstances - 65:23 89:16, 90:24 1:22,95:11 
72:17,73:14,74:5, 66:9 complaint - 12:4, Cross- 2:18,63:15 deposition - 3:3, 
74:7,74:8,74:13, " citizen - 8:4, 8:14, 27:17, 51:11, 54:1, cross-examination 3:4,3:10,5:18,63:10, 
75:16,77:23,78:13, '>;' 16:22, 17:16, 81:23, 54:8,61:19,61:20 - 63:12 64:22, 93:8, 93:14,\ 
78:17, 80:19, 89:18, ' 82:8 complete - 95:16 crossed - 86:7 95:15,95:17,96:13', 
89:24, 89:25, 90:3, citizenship - 8:6, complicated - 32:24 Crr- 95:4, 95:8, 96:14, 97:20 
90:7,90:9,90:15, 8:8, 8:23, 88: 18 compound - 48: 1 9 95:14 Describe - 63:19 
90:17 city-l1:24,81:13, computer - 95: 17 crush - 56:24 describe - 66:2, 

camps - 73:19, 84:12,85:23,86:10, computer-assisted crystal - 29:9, 66:9,67:7,69:19 
77:19,78:8,81:10, 86:13,86:16,86:17, - 95:17 57:11,57:13,64:23 described - 64:22 
81:15,83:1 87:1, 88:16, 89:1, concerned - 34:23 crystals - 52:14, detail- 71:4 

candelabra - 54:9, 90:21 conclude - 63:10, 52:17,52:18 detective - 89:3 
54:11 City- 95:6 96:18 Cuneo-2:8 determined - 62:22 

candle - 54:13 Civ- 1:4 concluded - 93:14 cup - 72:12, 72:15 diamond - 55:24 
candlesticks - claim - 35:10, 52:8 concludes - 93:8 cups - 54:2, 54:4, diamonds - 55:20 

64:24 claiming - 54:18, conclusion - 48:13, 57:24, 64:24 die - 70:4, 74:10 
cannot - 70:20 54:22, 54:24, 55:2, 49:2, 49:11,49:22, currency - 65:8 died - 75:13, 75:18, 
cap - 69:17 55:5,56:1,56:13, 60:17,61:4,62:21 current - 26:12 84:17 
capital - 76:25, 65:21 conduct - 63:12 custody - 40:20, difference - 49:14, 

83:12,84:6,85:22, claims - 35:7,52:4, conductor - 87:25, 41:18,93:11 49: 16, 87:22 
87:5 61:12 88:3,88:5 cut - 69:14 different - 53:6, 

captioned - 96: 13 clarify - 35:24, conference - 88:12 Czech- 8:3, 8:23, 53:7,73:1,74:17 
capture - 85:9 36:16,39:8 confident - 63:4 79:1, 80:21, 81 :23, difficult -11:17, 
car - 67:2 class - 60:12, 60:21, confined - 90:2 82:8,85:13,86:1, 47:6,62:4 
care -77:14, 78:21, 60:25,61:11,61:19, confusion - 27:22, 88:9,89:16 direct - 15:6, 15:8 

96:17 61:23,62:6,62:11, 27:24 Czechoslovakia - Direct- 2:18,3:25 
cared -77:4 80:2 Congress - 43:21 7:23,7:24,8:25, 10:1, disappeared -
carefully - 62:9 clay - 74:19,74:20 connected - 45:15, 11:15,13:2,13:3, 32:22 
Carolyn- 2:14, 3:4, clays - 74:17 45:23, 95:20 13:16,19:18,24:12, discuss - 67:21 

4:1,4:12 cleaner - 20:25 connection - 96:13 27:5,27:12,27:15, discussed - 62:14 
Carpathian - 80:22, cleaning - 7:19, consider - 9:9, 64:9 27:18,28:3,34:23, Discussion - 83:22 

83:12 21:5,21:9 consisting - 93:9 34:24, 76:23 discussions -
carpets - 40:3 clear - 30:9, 78:5 consul- 15:25 Czechoslovakian- 40:14,41:6 
carry - 32:6 clearly - 5:7,30:7 contact - 9:18, 15:6, 34:20 displaced -13:2, 
cars - 66:14 clerk-81:17 15:9,20:1,20:7, Czechoslovakians - 13:8, 13:17, 15:10, 
case - 60:12, 61:4, Clifton-18:9, 19:6 34:20, 34:25, 35:2 14:12 20:3, 20:5, 33:22, 

61:5,62:17,96:13 Clinton- 37:19 contents - 40:22 34:3,89:18,90:8 
Case- 1:4, 3:7 Clinton's- 41 :22 context - 4:23 D Display - 52:25 
catch - 65:9, 87:23 close - 60:19, control - 15:6, 42: 1 , District-l:l,1:2, 
cattle - 66:13 66:14, 72:20 42:22,46:12,50:16 daily - 53:14, 69:19, 3:8,3:9 
caught - 85:6, closer - 87:24 controlled - 90:9 71:6 Division - 1 :2, 3~9 

85:10,86:8 closet - 30:20, convalesced - Danny- 26:14 dogs - 82:16 
Center- 2:4, 96:7 55:16,92:14 78:20 dar-",- 86:19 dollars - 85:14 
center - 86:20 clothes - 79:2 conversations - :d;;:k':' 82:14 84:12 Dollars - 85:14 

FERNANDEZ & ASSOCIATES (305) 374-8868 



domination - 73:11 46:12,72:18,72:19, 68:25,85:17,88:21, 23:11 ground - 5:4 
3 

done - 46:2, 52:5, 73:5,79:6,83:19 88:22 free-41:20,70:3 group - 24:15, 
60:11, 78:9, 84:23 End-18:16,18:17 fathe(s - 28:16 Friday- 54:12 24:16,43:22,43:24, 

door-84:17,64:21, ended - 35:22 fed - 75:17, 76:21 friend - 83:7 60:24,89:19 
70:21, 76:1, 85:21 enemy - 48:4, 48:8 Federations- 81 :9 friends - 20:4, groups - 89:15 

doors - 67:10 engaged - 83:9 feet - 68:10, 69:12 23:21,76:7,83:8, guards - 71 :9, 
double - 75:19 Enter- 97:2 fence - 70:10, 84:8,87:7 71:21,72:6,76:4 
doweoy - 29:1, 56:5, entered - 97:21 70:11,70:14 Friends- 20:5 Guards- 65:5 

92:14 entire - 11 :21 fences - 65;5, 71:8 front - 68:9,68:10, guess - 43:20, 
Down - 56:9, 56: 11 equal- 28:9 Fernandez':' 3:13, 68:13,72:8 87:14 
down - 4:16, 29:10, equipment - 72:1 96:1 Foy- 70:2 Guffey-1:20,3:13, 

33:2,34:9,34:18, errata - 96: 15 few - 5:5, 31:24, full - 6:19, 85:7 95:4,95:8,95:14, 
35:3,39:7,54:15, Errata- 97:1 55: 19, 56:23, 59:25, funding - 63:5 95:22, 96:22 
56:10, 56:20, 58:17, especially - 78:3 60:10,69:21,70:25, furthest - 87:1 gum -75:4 
74:3,75:22,81:2, Esq- 2:6, 2:10, 81:16 gums -75:4 
83:3,86:7,87:25 2:14,96:6 field - 76:21 G gun - 70:7 

Dp- 80:19,89:24, estimate - 58:14, figure - 58:18 guy - 84:6, 84:7, 
90:8 61:10,61:14,62:2, figured -71:1, Gables-1:13,2:5, 70:8,74:21,76:19, 

drugs - 6:11 80:1,80:5 71:24,82:8,82:13, 3:12,96:8 82:21,84:17,85:12, 
drum - 64:7 et -1:6,3:6,96:10 83:11,89:7 gangsters - 74:14 86:18,87:2,87:10, 
doy - 7:19, 20:25, Europe-11:8, file - 35:7,35:9 gas - 68:22 88:21 

21:5,21:9 14:23,20:2,26:2, filed - 1 :22, 34: 16, gate - 70:1 guys - 77:17, 84:16, 
Dubbin - 2:2, 2:3, 48:8, 73:25, 85: 14 60:12 gates - 76:6 87:1 

2:6,3:10,4:5,9:4, eventually -16:8 files - 60:23 Gathering - 24:22 
12:3,22:10,22:15, exactly - 49:25 filing - 96:19 Bendanne - 28:9, H 
22:18,27:16,27:21, ExamInation - 3:25, 'filled - 66:14,74:16, 2 :21,30:14,30:17, 
27:23,30:1,30:5, 63:15,91:1 88:20 32:9,32:16,32:20, hair - 69:15,89:5 
35:22,35:24,36:15, examination - 63: 12 final- 42:7 33:3,35:19,38:7, half -12:17,28:7, 
39:12,39:15,39:21, examined - 3:23 finally - 89:19 91:7,91:25 68:2, 82:5, 89:9 
40:24,41:19,42:16, except - 84:24 fine - 56:3, 89:7 generally - 52:6 halfway - 87:17 
44:20, 44:23, 45:9, Except-63:11, finger - 83:4 Beneration - 29:10, hammer - 72:2, 
45:12,45:25,46:5, 90:9,94:1 fingers - 58:13, 5 :20,56:21 72:3,72:6 
48:11,48:17,49:1, Excuse-47:12 --92:20 German- 28:10, hand - 57:2,74:23, 
49:10,49:21,50:3, expect - 68:4, 68:5 ~inish- 9:5 48:24,49:3, 49:14, 76:9,95:6 
51:7,57:1,60:16, experienced - 61:7 first - 3:22, 23:13, 49:17,70:17,89:5 handed - 29:10, 
61 :3, 61 :25, 62:9, expert - 49:22 23:14,25:25,37:15, Gennans- 33:18, 54:15, 56:20 
62:20,63:11,63:16, explain - 73:7 38:15,40:10,41:17, 73:15,76:6 handful - 29:4 
72:16,74:11,75:15, explaining - 84:2 42:2, 42:11, 70:9, Gennany - 13:2, handled - 79:16 

if? 80:8,80:15,83:15, explanation - 35:9 72:2,75:10,75:21, 13:8,15:19,15:20;" handles - 72:9, 
84:1, 90:24, 91 :18, express - 87:21, 76:10,77:18,78:21, 74:9,89:15,89:1K' 72:10 
92:8, 92:11, 92:24, 87:24 86:22, 96: 18 ghetto - 11 :24,. " handm",de - 31 :8, 
96:6,96:12 extent - 60:16 First- 17:6, 48:11 12:10,32:5,46:16, 56:5 

duly - 3:22, 95:5 extra - 54:14 five - 24:9, 59:6, 64:20, 65:3, 65:4, hanging - 76: 18 
during - 5:18, eyes - 89:5 63:22, 63:23, 84:6, 65:18,65:22,66:3, happy - 5:21, 5:25, 

13:12,17:24,24:17, 84:7,85:19,86:1 66:7,66:10,67:5, 6:6,36:1,47:13 
27:5,27:12,27:15, F Five-10:24,82:20 78:6,79:18,91:10, hard - 56:15 
35:7,40:13,40:14, FI- 2:5, 96:8 91:16,92:3,92:8, hardly - 75:17 
41:7,41:8,49:20, face - 76:11 flea - 87:7,87:10 92:18 head - 9:3, 29:25, 
58:16,67:18,78:5, facilities - 66:16, Fletcher- 89:20 Gilbert- 2:8 31:22 
78:17 66:21 Floor- 2:4, 96:7 girls - 88:6 headquarters -

During-19:24, factooy - 17:25, floor - 66:4 glassware - 52:14, 82:19 
36:19 18:11 Florida-1:2,1:13, 52:18 healthy - 78:19 

dwindled - 22:24 facts - 5:6 1:21,3:9,3:12,21:25, gold - 35:17,39:20, hear - 5:7, 38:15, 
dying - 73:20,74:21 familiar - 4:25 23:4,23:5,94:7, 40:3,40:15,41 :15, 72:24 

Family- 22:3 94:13,95:2,95:4, 41:16,44:11, 44:21, heard - 39:23, 

E family - 8:25, 9:2, 95:7,95:9,95:12, 46:16,46:22,47:1, 40:10,40:11,75:25, 
9:10,10:10,10:19, 95:20,96:2 50:8, 55:8, 55:11, 89:14,90:20 

early - 63:21 10:22,11:21,12:7, fly - 73:1 55:12,55:15,65:7, hearing - 20:11, 
easy - 58:21 18:4,27:10,31:9, focus - 41 :14 78:12,82:20 30:7 
eat -74:19,86:22 31:12,32:4,33:3, follow - 67:12, Gold- 55:9, 55:10 heaven - 70:23 
eating - 75:2, 75:3 35:12,36:11,36:21, 84:14 government- heavier - 56:10 
Ebensee- 75:17 37:1,57:13,58:3, Follow- 86:18 30:12,34:21,34:23, heavy - 72:3 
Ebnsee-74:7 58:15,58:20,63:25, following - 64:10 34:25, 36:5, 36:9, Hebrew - 57:25 
effort - 45:6, 45:7 64:12,65:14,65:17, follows - 3:24 38:19,43:8,51:19, held - 8:8 
efforts - 32:19, 67:1,67:18,68:14, food -14:21,74:25, 63:14,80:21 help - 23:22,70:17, 

33:2, 33:19, 34:8, 68:23,83:2,88:15, 86:25,90:12 Government- 35:3, 84: 1 0, 84:25, 86: 13 
34:17, 34:19 91:10 forced -11:18 42:1,50:19 helped - 23:22, 

eight - 22:8 family's - 27:6, foregoing - 95:16 grandchildren - 69:11,84:17,84:18 
Either- 8:17 40:6,45:4,45:15, foreign - 65:8 7:9,7:11 Herald - 25:20, 26:3, 
either - 32:20, 45:24, 46:18, 47:3, forget - 69:25 grandfather - 58:7 26:6, 42:3, 42:5, 

34:24,40:1 47:10,58:5,79:18, form - 97:21 grandmother - 44:17,44:22 
elsewhere - 14:22 79:23,80:17 forth - 15:25, 88:4 54:14 hereby - 95:4, 95:14 
employed - 7:15 fancy - 29:1, 46:23 forwarded - 96:16 grandmothers - Herein - 94:2 
employee - 95: 19 far - 34:23, 85:23, four - 8:17, 21 :15, 55:15,55:18,55:23 herein - 95:15 
empty - 12:19 86:15,87:1,88:17 24:4,24:5, 54:5, grandparents - hidden - 50:13 
enclosed - 96:14, farm - 73:23 55:12,75:9,87:8, 10:21,63:22,66:20, hide - 31 :12, 31 :14, 

96:15 fanner - 85:21 87:13 69:2 31:19,31:23 
encompasses - fast - 75:21 Four- 23:3 great-7:11,58:6 hiding - 31 :25, 32:2, 

36:16 father - 10:18, Fourth- 2:4, 96:7 Greater- 27:18 88:2 
end - 4:16 12:11 10:25 31:14 68:10 ·foilrth'- 23:10 ;;reen - 72:13 73:23 hiah - 65:4 75:20 

FE~~P~DEZ & ASSOCIATES (305) 374-8868 



historian - 44:25 57:23,68:18,70:8, kind - 6:4, 6:12, 66:2,68:17,69:19, 2:9,2:13 4 
hislory - 49:23, 74:1,81:24,87:20, 11:2,20:7,24:19, 71:6 material - 25:8 

51:11,56:21 88:14,92:7 29:15,35:15,46:13, Iighls - 54:13 Malhausen - 74:5 
hold - 8:6 individually - 45:5 55:2,56:18,68:15, likely- 49:17 mailer - 3:6, 4:14, 
hollered - 76:5 Individually - 45:6 69:24 limiled - 58:23 51:11,76:3,81:4 
Hollywood - 95:6, informal- 5:13 kinds - 56:4, 56:19 Line- 97:3 Mckee - 2:14,3:5, 

95:20 information - 50:18, kilchen - 81 :8, line -71:21,88:13, 4:1,4:8,4:12,9:11, 
Holocausl- 21:25, 50:24,51:8 81:25 96:15 9:25,12:5, 12:6, 

25:15,58:25,59:9, initials - Sl:20, Kivjazd- 7:25, 8:2, lined - 67:13 22:16,22:19,22:20, 
59:14 57:22,58:10 10:14,10:15 linen - 29:1, 46:23, 27:22, 27:25, 28:1, 

home-11:18, Initials - 58:9 knees - 71 :12, 56:3 30:10,35:21,35:23, 
13:16,44:14,54:12, inscriptions - 71:16,76:9 linens - 56:4, 56:6, 36:1,36:2,36:18, 
78:15,78:19,79:7, 57:25,58:2 knocked - 85:20 56:7,64:23 39:14,39:17,39:24, 
80:16,80:20,81:10, inside - 28:12, knowing - 66: 16, lines - 57:22 39:25,41:2,41:23, 
83:1, 83:5, 83:7, 64:25 79:15 liquor - 11:7 45:11,45:13,46:3, 
64:19,85:16,89:11 interest - 25:9 knowled~e - 51:1, Iisl- 47:4,52:7, 46:9,47:13,47:20, 

homes - 46:16 interim - 42:6 52:12,52: 6 52: 11, 79:23 48:14,48:21,48:22, 
hometown -10:7, internation:al - Known-. ..94:11 lisled - 46:23 49:5,49:13,50:1, 

12:15,12:18,13:13, 43:12 knows - 84:23 listen-- 62:9 50:6, 51 :12, 57:5, 
64:3 interruption - 9:23 Kravetz- 2:3,3:11 lisls - 46:25 59:24, 60:6, 60:20, 

Honeymoon-19:14 inviled - 23:21 krone - 86:1 live -7:1,10:10, 61:9,62:5,62:10, 
hook - 74:15 Irene - 7:6 kronen - 86:1 10:17,11:13,16:25, 62:23,63:7, 63:10, 
Hooper- 16:21 iron - 57:2 kronens-87:11 17:20, 18:12, 18:24, 82:3, 91 :2, 91 :20, 
hope - 60:18 Iron - 57:7, 57:8 19:6,72:5,80:3,80:6 91:22,92:10,92:12, 
hoping - 16:8 irreplaceable - L lived - 7:13, 10:20, 92:23,93:1,93:4, .. 
horse - 85:25, 87:2 58:18 11:10,16:20,18:13, 96:16 
hospilal- 74:25, Irving - 1 :6, 3:6, ladies - 82:1, 82:4 18:14,63:20,80:16, meal - 14:21, 90:12 

75:7, 76:21, 77:5, 96:10 lager -74:10 89:25 mean -10:21, 27:7, 
78:3, 86:23 Island -17:12, 19:2, laid - 89:2 living -16:19, 27:5, 27:16,32:25,34:19, 

hosl- 26:14,26:16 20:1 Landsberg- 13:21 27:9,27:17,28:2, 37:12,37:14,42:13, 
hol- 88:2 Israel- 9:17, 9:21, laoguage-9:7,14:7 38:13,90:2 43:9,43:12,47:8, 
hour - 26:4,32:7, 59:19,80:6 languages - 14:3 LIp- 2:3, 2:8, 3:11 49:25,51:3,52:18, 

64:4, 76:22, 81 :3, items - 35:17, . Large-1:21, 94:14, loaded - 40:4 60:14,62:21,73:7, .:;;: 
89:10 46:13, 52:11 95:4 local - 21 :23, 22:4, 90:5,92:8 -

house - 10:12, ilself - 28:18 lasl- 21:16,26:22, 22:12,22:13,22:21, means - 60:15, 61:2 
10:13,10:20,11:10, 50:4,54:15,66:17, 23:17,24:10,25:20, meant - 68: 17 
11:13,12:20,17:11, J !56:22, 75:23, 89:24 36:6, 43:22, 87:21 medical - 77:14 
18:6, 27:9, 28:2, 28:7, lasled - 66:22 localed - 38:16 medicine-- 6:11", . -
28:8,28:12,28:22, Jeff- 3:14 lale - 34:8, 36:3;' locked - 72:21, 85:6 6:14 
29:5,29:8,29:12, Jeffery- 4:3 37:10, 63:20 ., Lois-1:19,95:4, meel - 19: 15, 63:8, 
30:15,30:18,32:4, Jeffrey- 2:15 lalely - 57:4 95:8, 95:14, 95:22, 77:17 
32:12,32:21,38:8, Jersey-18:7,18:8, lawsuit- 5:6, 34:17, 96:22 member-21:17, 
52:7,53:10,54:16, 19:7,20:1 52:5,52:9,54:18, Lolane- 3: 13, 96:22 23:13,23:14,24:10, 
63:20, 64:17, 64:25, Jew- 14:7 56:2, 58:22, 60:23, Look- 85:4 61:23 
79:8, 79:11, 80:25, jewelry - 29:4, 55:2, 63:5,65:21 look - 55:14,69:8, members -10:20. 
91 :5, 91 :8, 91 :23, 55:5, 58:10, 58:11, lawyers - 61:5 70:5,72:22,87:15, 12:7,18:4,23:11, 
92:13 65:11,65:15,65:20, lay - 74:3 87:16,89:8 27:10,35:12,36:11, 

Hungarian - 28:9, 65:22, 65:23, 66:2, leadership -15:11 looked - 45:14, 36:21, 37:2, 61 :20, 
28:21,33:18,34:25, 91:9,91:15,91:16, learn - 38:10,39:3, 47:2,58:12,81:20, 62:6,62:11,65:17, 
36:5,38:15,38:19, 91:23,92:2 39:4,39:18,40:1, 82:10,83:3,89:5 80:2 
39:1,39:9,39:19, Jewelry- 55:3, 55:4 40:13,40:19,40:22, looking - 83:1 men -14:20, 67:13, 
40:2,41:7,41:8,43:8, Jewish- 14:4, 14:6, 41:3,41:17 looks - 89:9 68:7 
43:14,43:15,43:22, 21:17,22:2,22:3, learned - 37:15, losl- 35:7, 35:10, mention - 54:8, 
49:7,49:15,49:18, 25:20, 26:3, 26:6, 39:8 35:13,58:15,75:5 58:5,58:8 
51:18 33:9,37:23,38:16, leave -11:18, 29:5, love - 82:24 "mentioned - 44:7, 

Hungarians-14:14, 39:11,41:8,43:8, 29:7,64:3,66:12, luck - 85:15 44:8, 54:1, 55:25, 
78:9,79:16,79:17 43:9, 43:11, 43:12, 67:12,80:24,82:17, lucky-76:3 65:20 

Hungary - 9:2, 43:15,43:21,43:22, 83:9,90:17 Lunch- 72:13 Menton - 3:14 
27:18,28:3,49:20, 51:22,54:12,81:9, leaves - 72:13 menu -72:12 
49:24,80:6 84:24,86:17,89:9 leaving -17:10 M Mermelstein -1:17, 

husband - 17:9 Jews- 38:6, 39: 1, left -10:1, 12:25, 2:18,3:3,3:21,4:10, 
40:4,49:19,53:15 15:12,15:13, 18:5, machine - 29:9, 6:24, 6:25, 9:4, 47:21, 

I job - 71 :22, 72:2, 29:22,32:4,32:16, 52:21 60:11,68:1,73:4, 
74:14 32:21,66:10,67:14, Macl-70:2 91:3,93:9,95:5, 

Id-94:11 joined - 26:23 68:14,68:21,69:6, man - 84:13,84:25, 95:15,96:13 
idea - 35:18,67:15 Journal- 25:20 70: 19, 87:5, 88:3, 86:23 mel-19:21,19:23, 
identifiable - 57:12 July- 79:6 91:7 March -1:13, 3:12, 20:5, 23:20, 44:25, 
Idenlifiable - 57:14 June-79:6 legal- 48:13,49:1, 14:18,15:13,18:18, 73:20, 82:2, 84:9, 
idenlify - 45:20, Juslice- 2:13, 3:5, 49:11,49:22,60:17, 18:20, 73:3, 73:6, 87:18,88:15,89:10, 

57'12 4:13,93:12 61:4,62:21 95:6, 95:21, 96:4 93:3 
identifyin~ - 31 :6, leiters - 20:8, 20: 12 march - 73:14 Miami - 1 :2, 3:9, 

57:21,58:1 K Lellers- 20:9 marching - 81:2 7:2,7:13,19:10, 
illegal - 86: 13 liberaled -12:13, margarine - 74:18 19:11,19:13,20:18, 
imagine - 66:18 kepl- 64:8, 69:16, 13:10,72:20,76:15, Marine - 89:20 20:23,21:16,21:24, 
included - 68:23 78:24,79:2 77:2 mark - 31:6 22:14,22:17,22:22, 
including - 36:17 kicked - 30:8 liberation - 77:2 markel- 87:7, 87:10 25:20, 26:1, 26:3, 
inclusive - 95:16 kiddish - 54:1,54:4, liberty - 89:20 marketeers - 86:6 26:6,27:2,44:17, 
incomplete - 5:19 57:24, 64:24 Liefeschocher- married - 7:3, 83:8, 44:22, 75:5, 77:20, 
incorrect - 51 :16 ~ ,kill - 70:6 74:10 84:3,85:16 96:2 
indicatina - 52:24 'Killed - 70:13 70:14 life -14:19 21:16 Massachusetts - micrODhone - 30:a-;-~··:· . , 

FEP~~~~DEZ & ASSOCIATES (305) 374-8868 



" 
, 

5 
middle - 23:15, naturally - 82:23 50:4,51:7,60:16, . overstayed - 12:25 pictures - 47:5 

66:19 Nazi-73:9 62:20 overtaken - 13:4 piece - 29:19, 29:23 
might - 40:7 Ne- 2:9 objected - 50:5 own -18:14, 21:11, pieces - 52:13, 
miles -85:24 necessarily - 80:5 Objection- 49:1, 23:22,69:16 55:19,92:5,92:13, 
military - 90:10 neck - 92:19 61:25 owned -7:19,11:1 92:15,92:17 
mind - 53:20,78:15, necklace - 55:13, observant - 53:15 Pier-16:16 

91:18 55:14,55:18,92:6, occasion - 23:21 p pillow- 56:7 
mine - ,8:14,89:10 92:21 occasionally - 9:21, pinch - 69:6 
minuteJ<:,47:12, need - 5:24, 69:22, 25:21 pack - 32:7,64:3, pipes'- 88:2 

72:21,83:17 88:21 occupied - 49:18, 64:4 place -11:9,82:12 
minutes - 5:5, needed - 23:22, 49:20 packaged - 30:25 plaintiff - 61 :4, 

59:25,81:16 75:23,87:9 October- 73:5, packed - 64:16 61:18 
rnischaracterizes - neighbors - 31:10, 73:25 page - 5:5, 96:15 plaintiffs - 4:6, 4:7, 

39:15 33:8,33:10, 33:12, office - 81:17 Page- 97:3 61:6,62:19 
Miserable - 14:20 33:15 officer - 28:10, pages - 95:16 Plaintiffs - 1 :7,2:6, 
misled - 51:19, never - 50:24, 82: 1 0, 82:20 pair-87:9,87:10, 2:11 

51:23,52:1 . 58:12,58:17,69:25, officers - 28:20, 87:13 planes - 72:24, 
misrepresentation 70:16,71:21,73:17, 28:21,43:1,44:13 pants - 69:17, 74:4 72:25 ' 

- 50:21 78:2 offices - 3: 1 0 paper - 25:21, planning - 83:9 
misrepresentations New-16:16, 18:7, official - 95:6 29:16,29:19,29:22, playing - 67:15 

- 50:8, 50: 1 0 18:8, 19:6, 20: 1, officials - 33:23 29:24,38:2,44:16, pleasure - 63:8 
missing - 64:12 25:11,25:12,25:21, Officials- 33:24 82:11 pled - 61:5 
mistake - 71 :12 37:24,38:11,47:1, often - 9:21,20:10 papers - 25:16, plus - 66:6 . 

Mkvd - 81:1, 84:13, 59:1,59:2 old -12:16, 56:23, 31:16,31:17,78:3, Pm - 93:12,93:15 
88:9 news - 14:22, 67:14,67:25 88:20, 88:25, 89:6 pocket - 81 :21 

moaning - 75:25 14:23,24:11,25:7, ' older - 68:13,76:8 perents - 10:24, ' point -11:18,27:13, 
moment - 92:10 26:2,90:22 oldest - 70:15, 29:14, 29:23, 30:11, 28:3,30:11,35:18 
Monday -1:13 newspapers -15:1, 73:21 30:19,31:3,63:22, police - 28:9, 36:6, 
money - 23:22, 25:17,25:19,90:23 once- 26:7, 29:11, 66:19,68:3,70:20, 45:19,82:16,84:13, 

62:17, 81 :4, 81 :5, next - 4:15, 12:9, 31:15,50:15 70:22 86:5, 88:9, 90:8, 
82:18,85:13,86:12, 16:10,16:11,76:24, Once- 4:22, 4:23, parents' - 52:7 90:10 
87:12,87:17,87:22 81:1,81:6,81:7, 10:3,30:16 part - 6:5, 13:1, political- 20:14, 

mGlj1:h - 16:2, 81 :13,81:17,81:18, One-14:20, 17:23, 19:12,27:18,34:24, 74:13 
- 20:18,66:8,73:4, 81:25,84:17,85:23, 31:15,52:17,55:12, 58:19,58:20,80:24, position - 63:2, 

79:4 86:13,86:16,90:23 56:19,57:2,76:3, 89:14 74:2 
months - 13:12, Next- 5:24 87:19 particular - 26:10, possibility - 64:9 

59:13 night - 54:13, 66:22, . one - 5:7,9:19, 62:13 possible - 61 :23, 
morning - 4:9, 4:11, 67:6,71:1,71:10, 21:8,21:13,24:3, particularly - 57:20 86:15 

6:15,65:6,66:11, 72:14,73:8,73':19, 26:10,26:11,26:12, parties - 95: 19 Prague - 76:25, 
71:9,72:12,74:24, 78:4,82:14,89:1, 26:17,46:22,53:5, parties' - 95:19 77:16,78:23,79:5, 
76:3, 78:25, 80:23, 89:11 53:23,54:14,54:15, passage - 89:21 87:17,88:8,88:18 
82:18,85:22,86:3, nobody - 23:19, 58:6, 61 :5, 65:6, 66:5, passed· 16:20 pray - 86:22 
87:7,89:2,89:11 34:10,51:9,64:13, 66:11,66:15,66:16, Passover- 53:18, praying - 86:21 

Mortar - 57:1 65:6, 70:7, 81 :21, 67:13,69:5,70:11, 64:2 Pren -15:16, 15:18, 
most - 6:4, 49:17 82:12,84:9 70:12,70:13,73:2, past - 23:10 15:22,15:23,16:7 
Mostly - 20: 16 Nobody- 23:23, 73:22,74:2,74:4, penalties - 97:20 prepared - 95:17 
mother - 54:13, 65:5, 67:22, 68:6, 74:21,75:23,80:23, pending - 6:5 President - 37:19, 

55:23, 68:25, 88:23 72:21, 80:24, 84:23 81:3,81:13,81:14, penny - 87:18 41:22 
mother's - 55:13 noise - 72:10 81:24,82:20,83:8, People - 70:14, president - 21 :23, 
mountain - 71 :24, non - 33:9 83:20,84:16,84:20, 73:19,80:20 21 :24, 22:1, 22:4, 

71 :25, 85:5, 86:7 Notary-1:20, 94:13, 84:25,86:17,88:12, people - 23:22, 22: 12, 22:21, 22:23, 
mountains - 85:8 95:4,95:8 89:24, 90:22, 91:3 33:6,33:7,33:25, 22:25, 23:4, 23:8, 
Mountains - 80:22 notes - 95:16 ones - 15:16, 75:23 37:9,37:18,39:5, 23:12 
move - 16:3, 50:3 Nothing-12:23, Ooh-10:18 45:20,60:24,61:7, President's - 50: 12 
moved - 20:18, 32:14,79:12,84:23 open - 21:12, 35:22, 61:10,61:15,61:20, Pretty - 35:22 

32:5,75:22 nothing - 32:15, 72:22,76:6 66:15,67:15,68:20, prevent - 6:12 
moving - 50:4 73:17 open-ended - 35:22 69:9,69:22, 70:9, price - 62:3 
museum - 38:3, Notice-1:21 opened - 21:7, 70:25,73:20,74:21, primary-41:14 

58:25,59:9,59:14, notice - 35:9, 64:3, 21:12,30:20,67:11 75:9,75:18,75:21, Printed - 97:22 
59:17,59:22 64:5,64:15,96:18 Opened- 21:8, 21:9 77:17, 79:1, 84:9, priority - 78:21 

Museums - 59:23 noticed - 3:4 operations - 75:4 84:22,86:21,87:19, proceed - 63:5 
must - 88:22, 96:16 notices - 35:6 order - 64:10 89:13,89:14,90:11 program - 26:7, 
Must - 38:24 November- 13:9, organization - period - 24:18, 26:8,26:15 

14:18,15:12 13:22,22:1,23:9, 36:17,45:1 promise - 70:16 

N nowhere - 84:12 24:7,24:11,43:13, pe~ury - 97:20 properties - 41 :25 
number - 22:25, 43:19,51:22 permit - 80:25, 81:1, propertY - 29:12, 

Name- 97:22 46:22, 80:3, 83:20, Organization - 81:6,81:18 29:15,30:11,30:15, 
name - 4:12, 6:23, 83:24,95:16,96:15 23:24 person - 13:2, 13:8, 30:25,31:4,31 :7, 

6:24,7:5,13:17, numbers - 80:6 organizations - 13:18,15:10,20:3, 31:9,31:13,32:5, 
26:12,26:15,58:5, Nw- 2:13 23:12,27:1 75:13,89:18,90:22 32:6, 32:8, 32:9, 
58:8, 61 :18, 79:18, organized - 89:15 personally- 29:21, 32:15, 32:20, 32:21, 
79:23, 87:9, 89:9 0 original- 93:10, 45:16,95:5 33:2, 33:20, 33:23, 

named - 61:6,61:18 96:16 Personally - 94:11 34:1,34:5,34:9, 
names - 31 :3, o'clock - 86:4, 89:1 Otherwise - 72:4 persons - 33:22, 34:18,35:4,35:7, 

40:18,61:20 Oath- 95:1 ourselves - 39:6, 34:3,90:8 35:10,35:13,36:4, 
national - 22:1, 36:6 oath - 3:23 42:11,42:13,76:8 pestle - 57:1 36:9,36:13,36:22, 
National- 23:24 Object- 45:9 outside - 76:9, 90:6, physically - 28:11 36:25,37:11,37:16, 
Nations-14:1 object - 39: 12, 90:7 pick - 72:3, 76:17 37:23, 38: 16, 39: 11, 

·:·'-'.Qatura,l.ized - 8:14, 40:25, 45:25, 48:11, overnight - 78:25 picked -15:15 ";2~ 40:6,41:8,42:19, 
.• ,8:2:<' . 48:19 49:10 49:21 overseas - 24:11 oicture" - 79:14· "42:25 43:25 44:2 

FERNfu~DEZ & ASSOCIATES (305) 374-8868 



44:5,45:4,45:15, reason - 5:20, 5:24, returning - 27:4, Seitz-1:4 sleeping - 84:16 6 
45:20, 45:23, 46:10, 6:18 43:7 sell - 11 :8, 80:25, slept - 76:24, 85:21, 
46:18,47:4,47:9, receipt - 29:14 Returning- 57:11, 87:8 89:2 
47:10,48:4,48:7, receive - 14:22, 91:4 send - 69:9, 74:6 Slept- 66:4 
48:8,48:24, 49:4, 14:23 review - 95:15 sending - 67:23 slice - 72:14 
49:7,49:15,49:17, received - 64:14 reviewed - 46:25 sense -47:8 slide - 75:12 
49:18,50:11,50:15, recognize - 47:3, Rhode-17:12,19:1, sent: 84:19, 69:22, slip - 82:7 
50:18,50:23,51:2, 47:9 20:1 71:5,79:18,86:25 slips - 56:7 
51:5,51:20,51:23, recognized - 84:16, ring - 55:24 separate - 88:13 Slovakia - 85:20, 
52:2, 52:6, 52:8, 86:23 rings - 55:8, 55:9, separated - 68:7, 85:22,86:12,87:2, 
52:12,54:17,58:15, recollection - 8: 18 55:10,55:11,58:12, 73:21 87:6 
61:24,62:7,62:8, record - 3:15,3:19, 92:6,92:21 separating - 68:11 small - 71 :23, 85:20 
62:12,62:13,62:14, 5:22,6:23,9:8,47:15, roll-71:9 September - 73:5 smashed - 74:23 
64:22,78:6,78:10, 47:19,60:1,60:5, rolled - 76:8 Service - 22:3 Smith - 2: 15, 4:3 
78:18,79:16,79:17, 80:10,80:14,83:21, room -14:21,18:14, service - 86:24 smoke - 70:22, 71:1 
80:17,91:5,91:7, 83:22, 83:24, 93:3, 57:9,74:3,75:18, Services - 22:2 snowing - 74:2 
91:12 93:5,93:13,95:16 75:22,75:23,76:1, set - 53:5, 53:17, Sobrance- 86:10 

provided - 44:23 recounted -71:13, 76:2,84:20,87:17, 54:14,58:19,62:3, Social- 22:2 
provision - 48:4 71:18 90:11,90:12 87:25 sold - 4:24,11:5, 
pub -11:3,11:5 recovering - 58:23 rooms - 32:14, 75:8, sets - 53:1, 53:7, 21:12,37:23,38:3, 
public - 81:8 Recross- 2:18 84:19 53:15,54:5 47:1,86:10 
Public - 1 :20, 94:13, red - 53:22 Rosner- 1 :6, 3:6, settlement - 62:22 soldier - 34:4, 76:17 

95:4; 95:9 Redirect- 2:18, 91:1 87:19,88:1,96:10 seven - 10:5, 14:20, soldiers - 76:14, 
publication - 25:8 reference - 96:13 rubles - 81:5, 81:15, 59:21, 90:11 76:15,85:8 
publications - referring - 80:2 81:19 _ Seven - 59:21 sole - 86:8 - -

24:14,24:19,24:21, refugees - 86:14 rugs" 54:24 sewing - 29:9 Someone- 80:16-, 
25:13,25:14,25:15, regard - 44:5, rules - 5:4, 63:17 Sewing - 52:21 someone - 27:13, 
25:22 51:20,51:23,52:1 rumors - 67:24 Shabbot - 64:23 28:4 

publicizing - 46:8 regular - 56:21 run-68:18,71:20 shaken - 72:11 someplace - 20:13 
published - 25:10 related - 5:6 running - 24:1, shall- 96:18 sometime - 90:10 
pull-75:11 relative - 95:18, 26:9,33:25,84:15 shared - 50:25 sometimes - 48:4 
pulled -76:8 95:19 rus - 82:19 sheet - 31:2, 96:15 sony -11:4,13:25, 
purpose - 10:6 religious - 56:19 rushed - 67:11 :;S1eet- 97:1 14:5, 15:13,22:18, 
pursuant -1:21 remain - 93:10 Russia- 13:1,80:24-, ship - 85:7, 89:20 23:5, 26:5, 32:23, 
put - 31 :3, 52:24, remember - 5: 15, 89:13 shipped - 38:20, 42:4, 55:9, 92:11 

57:3,65:15,66:15, 13:7,13:17,15:21, Russian- 82:10, 40:5,44:14 sort - 5:4, 21 :20, 
73:24, 79:17, 79:20, 18:15,26:8,26:16, 82:16,82:18,82:20, ~hirt - 69:17,74:4 21:21,25:7.,52:22 
81:20,81:21 28:22, 30:17, 30:25, 85:12,88:8 shoes - 69:8,69:16, sorts - 23:1"6,27:1 

>.-",- 31:25,38:22,42:9, Russians-13:4, 86:6,87:9,87:10 soup -_66:5, 72:13 

Q:" 50:5,52:15,54:17, 38:19,72:19,72:23 shoot - 64:12, Sout~_ef~ - 1 :2, 3:9 
54:20, 55:20, 56:24, 65:10,85:9 Southwest- 7:2 

quarterly - 24:24 58:1, 77:23, 81 :25, S shooting - 72:22, Soviet - 86:14 
questions - 5:6, 84:10,87:20,92:5, 73:1 Soviets-13:5 

5:7,60:10,63:13, 92:15,92:17 safe - 87:6 Short- 47:17,60:3, speaking - 6:12, 
91:4,92:23 remembered - 82:7 Samuel- 2:2, 2:6, 80:12 37:8,39:9 

quietly - 73:1 remind - 5:3 4:5,96:6 shot-70:7,73:21, special - 11 :9, 53:3, 
quilts - 53:22, 56:9, remove - 28:11, sat - 58:17 85:10 53:22 

56:10 65:14 satin - 53:22 show - 45:20, 82:8 specific - 39:22, 
quite - 39:22 Reorganization- saw - 29:16,29:22, showed - 74:22, 52:4,58:2 

14:1 30:21,31:15,67:14, 85:17,86:6,89:6 specifically - 27:7, 

R repeat - 5:8, 29:18 68:11,68:13,68:16, shower - 69:15 55:6,57:12 
repeating - 64:8 69:10,70:1,76:9, showered - 76:21 specificity - 36: 16 

radio - 26:4, 26:6, rephrase - 22: 11, 76:11,76:12,77:9, Siberia- 85:7, 85:11 speculate - 46:1 
26:8 36:19,48:21,51:4, 78:2,81:17,82:1, sick - 13:15 speculation -

rail- 71:23 92:9 86:9,87:10,87:13, side - 53:23,67:13, 48:12,62:1 
railroad - 71 :23, rephrasing - 91: 19 87:25,89:13,92:19 70:8,88:5 spell- 8:1, 12:1, 

71:25 report - 37:21, Sayeth - 94:3 sign - 9:7, 70:1, 15:20 
raining - 74:2 41:25,42:2,42:7, sbuscribing - 96:18 88:21, 88:24 spelled - 51:10 
ran -13:22,68:16, 42:10, 95:14 scarce - 86:12 Signature- 97:21 spelling -74:11 

69:7,70:10,70:14, reporter - 3:13, seal - 91 :8, 95:6 signed - 96:16 spend -14:17 
76:5,88:11 3:17,4:15,48:18 sealed - 64:17, signs - 89:8 spent -13:13, 18:23 

rationed - 66:6, Reporter- 71: 14, 64:21,91:8 silver- 53:12, spoken - 14:3, 
66:17 71 :17, 95:23 Second - 48:12 53:13, 54:3, 54:6, 36:12,37:11,52:6, 

Rdr- 1 :20, 95:4, Reporter's- 95: 11 second - 68:15, 54:8,54:11,57:19, 62:6,62:11 
95:8,95:14,95:22 represent - 4:14 70:10,76:1,80:9, 64:23,65:7 spring - 63:24 

Re- 96:10, 97:2 representative - 93:7 Silverware- 53:11 squeeze - 72: 1 0 
read - 24:18, 24:23, 60:25,61:7 secret - 84:13 silverware - 53: 12 squeezed - 72:9 

25:12,25:19,38:2, request - 4:18, section - 70:12, Similar-11:3,11:5 Ss- 68:16,94:8, 
42:2,44:10,44:11, 49:21,50:18 70:13 similar - 43:20 95:2,95:12 
44:15,44:21,48:18, requested - 95:15 sections - 70:12 sister - 10:24, stacks - 75:20 
82:21,96:14,97:20 residence - 31 :13 see - 26:14, 29:3, 63:23,69:1 standing - 70:6, 

reading - 25:23, rest -10:22, 19:8, 29:16,29:19,29:21, sitting - 74:2, 82:20, 89:3 
42:10,96:18 29:8,75:22 31 :23, 35:8, 45:20, 88:6 Stanley- 2:10, 4:7 

ready -15:16, restless - 80:20 57:16,70:20,70:22, Sitting- 4:14 star - 77:9 
66:12,73:18,76:2 restroom - 6:2 72:8, 72:25, 75:20, situation - 20:14 stars - 82:20 

realize - 5:19 retired - 7:15, 7:18, 78:16,78:21,80:21, Six-77:15 start - 21 :6, 24:3, 
really - 35:16, 21:13 81:21,83:5,83:13, six -10:5,76:22 24:8,33:1 

58:12,58:17 Retired- 7:16, 7:17 84:21,85:11,88:8 size - 87:15 started - 23:18, 
Realtime- 95:23 returned - 32:12, seeing - 70:25 " T-. :~.~ . sledge - 72:2 23:19,25:1,37:12, 
Reason- 97:3 45:4 seeki"o - 65:23; ,- .feeo - 66:3 84:12 37:16 68:9 73:3 

FERNANDEZ & ASSOCIATES (305) 374-8868 



73:6,73:8,74:19, suit - 36:17, 60:22, 6:16,6:20,24:18, 74:16 Vice- 21:25 7 
82:16,84:14,84:15, 65:24 54:20, 84:11, 91:6 tum - 9:24,30:12, video - 3:3, 3:15, 
86:3,87:14,89:7, Suite- 2:9, 3:11 todays - 93:10 52:4,65:8, 70:4, 72:5, 47:15,47:18,60:1, 
89:12 supervision - 95:18 together - 34:14, 75:11,75:12 60:4,80:10,80:13, 

State-1:20, 21:24, supply - 48:24, 49:7 84:19,67:2,81:9, turned -78:6 83:21, 83:23, 93: 13 
94:7,94:13,95:2, supported - 81:8 83:11 turns - 72:1 Video- 3:15 
95:4,95:7,95:9, surrounded - 64:3 Took-70:7 Two- 10:9, 28:9, Videographer - 3:2, 
95:12 surviv - 22:12 took-11:24,12:10, 53:6,53:7,55:21, 30:7,47:15,47:18, 
state - 3: 18, 6:22, survived - 77:21, 15;5\6, 18:14, 28:7, 55:23,56:19,59:13, 60:1,60:4,80:10, 

9:6, 9:8, 23:9, 24:7, 78:22,81:12 28:8, 28:22, 28:25, 67:6,69:1,82:4 80:13,83:19,83:23, 
80:22 survivor - 24:18, 29:3, 29:15, 30:22, two - 8:11, 8:12, 93:5,93:7 

statement - 30:2, 25:13,25:14 30:23,31:1,31:17, 23:12,47:12,49:16, videographer -
51:15 survivors - 21 :23, 33:16,35:17,35:19, 53:15,55:12,59:13, 3:14,4:17 

States - 1 :1, 1 :9, 21:25,22:5,22:13, 36:9,40:4,42:1, 66:15,66:22,68:12, Videotape-1:17 
3:5,3:7,3:8,4:2,4:4, 22:21, 22:24, 25:9, 42:22,46:12,46:15, 68:14,69:7,70:15, videotape - 3:2, 
4:14,8:14, 14:24, 34:14,36:12,36:22, 50:11,55:16,64:18, 75:9,76:19,77:17, 83:20, 83:24, 93:8 
15:17, 16:4, 16:5, 37:2,37:18,39:9, 64:19,,65:11,66:12, 82:1,83:24,84:19, videotapes - 93:9 
16:9,16:12,16:13, 39:19,40:2,41:7, 70:15,72:1,72:5, 86:25, 88:6, 89:8, videotaping - 4:18 
17:5,18:1,18:18, 61:11,61:16,77:20 73:13,75:13,76:20, 89:25,91:3,93:9 visit - 10:6, 10:8 
19:22,19:25,31:18, Survivors- 23:5, 76:23, 78:24, 79:1, two-minute - 47:12 visited - 10: 1, 
34:7,35:3,42:1, 23:24,34:13,42:14 81:19,81:22,82:19, type - 25:8, 53:22, 58:25,59:9 
43:21, 46:11, 48:23, suspect - 71 :25 84:18,84:19,85:12, 59:22 voice - 30:6 
50:7,50:22,51:1, swear- 3:17 85:17,85:19,89:11, vor-74:10 
51:5,51:16,52:1, Swom-94:9 89:19,92:6 U Vs- 96:10 
61:12,80:3,89:22, sworn - 3:23, 95:5 top -73:24,74:1, vs -1:8 
93:11,96:10 synagogue - 64:18 15:6 uncle -17:13, 

station - 66:13, tore - 82: 11, 86:8 17:14,17:20,88:16, W 
81:13,82:25,88:9 T total- 58:15 89:12 

stations - 77:18 touch - 34:6, 42: 16, uncle's - 18:5 wagon - 66:14, 
stay - 15:23, 68: 12, Table- 56:7 57:17 under - 15:5, 15:24, 66:15,85:6 

71:12,71:15 table - 4:17, 29:1, tough - 85:15 42:1, 66:10, 67:23, wagons - 67:11, 
Stayed-74:6 52:22, 56:6, 81 :20 towards - 72:8 73:9,75:9,75:10, 74:15,85:5 
stayed - 13:15, tablespoon - 66: 18 ·tower-71:8 77:14,78:20,84:16, wait-70:13,82:13, ' 

89:12 tad - 30:8 town -7:24,12:19, 88:1,89:16,95:17 93:7 
steal- 75:2 Tadmore- 26:14 13:3,64:2,64:7,64:8, Under- 97:19 waiting - 70:4, 89:4 
stemware - 52:18 tailor -17:9 64:18,80:24,81:1, underneath - 53:23 waived - 96:19 
stenographic - taller- 69:8 81:6,81:7,81:11, understood - 6:9 wake - 80:23 

95:16 tank-76:11,77:10 81:19,81:25,82:14, undress - 69:15 Waldman - 2:8 
stenographically - tanks - 76:9 85:20, 90:20 Union-'86:14 walk - 68:9, 69:15, 

95:14 tape - 83:17 track - 33:2, 34:9, Uni!e(l'c 1:1,1:9, 71:21,73:8,73:20, 
step - 74:24 tapes - 93:10 34:18,35:3 3:5,3;7,-3:8, 4:1, 4:3, 76:4,77:15,84:15, 
stepped - 69:8 teachers - 81:2 train - 38:16,39:10, 4:14,8:14,14:1, 85:7, 86:3, 87:14, 
slick - 68: 16 teeth' 75:4, 75:5, 40:4,40:7, 40:11, 14:24, 15:17, 16:4, 89:7 
sticking -76:11 76:12 40:15,40:20,40:23, 16:5, 16:9, 16:12, Walk-73:19 
still - 22:23, 26:8, temple - 26:19, 41:15,41:16,41:18, 16:13,17:4,18:1, walked - 70:2, 72:6, 

43:2,64:25 26:21, 26:23, 26:24 42:19,44:6,44:12, 18:18,19:22,19:24, 88:24 
stolen - 38:6, 45:19, ten - 68:10 44:22,46:11,46:17, 31:17,34:7,35:2, walking - 88:5 

49:18 term - 22:9 46:19,46:24,47:1, 42:1, 43:21, 46:11, Walking- 89:9 
stones - 55:22 Terrace- 7:2 50:8,64:19,66:24, 48:23, 50:7, 50:22, wall- 56:19 
stood - 69:12 terrible -71:1 67:9,67:10,73:24, 51:1,51:5,51:15, War-17:7 
stop - 74:22 territory - 49: 18, 74:22,75:1,78:12, 52:1, 61 :12, 80:3, war-11:11,12:11, 
stopped - 67:10, 49:20 85:24,87:3,87:18, 81 :8, 89:22, 93:11, 13:6,13:7,17:14, 

68:15, 73:2, 86:5, testified - 3:23, 87:25,88:4,88:16 96:10 17:15,19:25,27:5, 
88:4 79:10 trains - 71 :24 united - 74:9 27:12,32:12,32:19, 

store - 21 :11, 89:9 testimony - 39:13, Transcript- 94:3, Unro-13:24,14:1, 33:1,33:13,35:7, 
story -19:16 39:21,50:22,93:10 97:2 16:5 35:10,37:22,41:9, 
straight - 68:22, themselves - 20:16, transcript - 95:15, up - 8:22,19:21, 46:12,47:25,48:25, 

77:1,83:4 70:15 95:17,96:14,96:15 19:23,24:1,30:8, 49:8, 49:20, 51 :19, 
strange - 84: 12 Thereupon- 3: 1, transpired - 69: 13 30:20,31:2,31:15, 58:16,85:14,85:15 
Street - 16:21 3:20,93:14 travel - 90:5, 90:7 31:24,54:16,58:17, Warwick-17:12 
street - 85:4, 89:10 thinking - 81:16 traveling -13:13 61:13,62:19,66:14, Washington- 2:10, 
stretch - 69:6, 74:3 third - 75: 18, 76:2 treason - 82:17 67:13,68:18,72:4, 2:14,59:10,74:1 
stretched - 69:8 Third- 76:16 trial- 96:18 74:15,74:16,75:20, watched - 88:4 
strike - 42:9, 42:17, thousand - 86: 1 tried - 76: 17 76:4, 76:17, 80:23, watches - 55: 12 

44:10, 48:3, 50:3, Three- 7:8, 7:10, troops - 48:5, 82:11, 83:3, 85:6, watching - 84:13 
50:5 21:15,24:5 48:25,49:7 85:7, 86:9, 89:3 water - 66:16, 

string - 86:9 three- 8:17, 21:13, trucks - 74:6 66:17,86:8 
stronger - 79:3 23:10,24:4,59:13, True- 94:2 V waved - 83:4 
structured - 62:22 75:8, 76:7, 78:23, true - 70:24, 91 :6, ways - 35:6, 73: 1 
stuff - 29:9, 30:22, 83:4,85:4,85:10 95:16,97:20 Vague- 35:24 week - 26:4, 26:7, 

40:3,40:17,46:13, threw - 75:19, truly - 96:20 valota - 65:8 72:11,79:2,89:12 
46:23,53:10,56:23, 75:24, 82:11 trustee - 70:20 Valuable- 3:15 weeks - 10:9, 76:22, 
56:24,72:14,73:23, throughout - 33:12 trustees - 69:5 value - 58:15, 77:13,77:15 
87:8 ticket -14:21, 90:12 truth - 50:13 58:19,62:14 welcome - 12:25 

Stuff- 52:23 tickets - 87:1,88:7, truthful - 6: 19 Value-62:8 welcomed - 69:25 
subject-11:17, 88:10,88:11,88:14 truthfully - 6: 13 values - 62:3 welfare - 23:23 

97:20 tied - 86:9 try - 37:12, 58:17, vegetable - 72: 13 West-17:12 
subscribed - 94:9 Tied- 31:2 84:2,84:10,84:21 verbally - 9:6, 30:2 wet -74:5 
substance - 97:21 Today- 3:12, 6:14_" trying - 57:9, 82:17 verrichtung - 74:10 whereabouts - 34:9 
successful - 45:8 todav-4:196:12 tunnels - 74:14 versus - 3:6 Whew-12:25 

FE~~~~DEZ & ASSOCIATES (305) 374-8868 



whichever - 96: 18 8 
whiskey - 11:7 
White- 52:19 
white - 53:23, n:9 
White-colored -

52:19 
whole - 64:18,67:1, 

68:14 
wife -19:15,20:20, 

82:2,93:3 
wife's -7:5 
window - 72:22, 

75:19 
wine -11:7 
wire - 65:4 
withdraw - 50:2 
Witness- 2:18, 9:3, 

9:9, 9:24, 22:14, 
22:17,27:20,29:25, 
30:4, 30:9, 31 :22, 
41:21,46:7,49:3, 
49: 12, 49:24, 57:2, 
60:18,62:2,63:9, 
71:16,71:18,74:13, 

8;~n~~;'_ ~~;~, 956 
3:22,28:14,46:1, 
62:1,95:5,95:15, 
95:17,96:14,96:16 

witnessed - 65:12 
woke - 76:3, 89:2 
women - 67:13, 

68:8 
word - 4:16, 14:20 
words - 69:25 
world - 14:13, 14:23 
World-17:6 
worry - 26: 16 
worst - 66:20 
wound - 54:16 
Write- 97:2 
written - 29:17, 

29:20,44:11,44:22 

y 
year - 17:3, 17:23, 

18:15,18:23,18:25, 
19:1,23:10,23:11, 
25:1, 38:22, 72:19, 
76:8 

years -7:14,10:5, 
21 :2, 21 :13, 21 :15, 
21:16,21:17,22:8, 
22:25, 23:2, 24:4, 
24:5, 24:9, 25:23, 
26:22,35:13,36:13, 
36:14,37:22,58:21, 
59:6, 59:21, 89:25 

Yed- 59:16,59:19 
Yeshim- 59:16, 

59:19 
Yiddish-14:8, 14:9 
York-16:16,25:11, 

25:12,25:21,37:24, 
38:11,47:1,59:1, 
59:2 

young - 66:19, 
69:11,82:1,82:4 

younger - 15:15, 
82:6 

yourself - 18:2, 
61:11,65:12,69:6, 
69:13,75:12 

Z 
Zion- 26:25 
zone - 89:11. •... .. .. I 

FERNANDEZ & ASSOCIATES (305) 374-8868 








	9JbmVwdF9JbXBsZW1lbnRhdGlvbgA=: 
	frmQuickSearch: 
	fldQuickSearch: 
	btnQuickSearch: 

	frmQuickMailingList: 
	qmlEmailAddress_req: 
	hfld_subscribe: 1
	hfld_subscribe_(1): 2
	hfld_subscribe_(1)_(2): 4
	hfld_subscribe_(1)_(2)_(3): 8
	input0: 

	frm_ArticlesSearch: 
	hfld_Keyword: 
	hfld_Topic: [0]
	hfld_TimeLimit: [0]
	btnQuickMailingList: 




